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JSC “ProCredit Bank”
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 December 2020
In thousands of UAH

Note

Profit for the year

2020

2019

542,193

696,224

45,685

45,613

Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation, impairment of investment property

28

Allowance for expected credit losses on loans and advances to
customers

33

240,694

120,616

Interest income

26

(2,572,494)

(2,768,695)

Interest expense

26

1,285,070

1,452,733

Current and deferred income taxes

29

129,564

151,142

21,444

33,793

(307,844)

(268,574)

Other non-cash movements

Cash flows used in operating activities before changes in
operating assets and liabilities

Increase / decrease in operating assets and liabilities:
Due from other banks
Loans and advances to customers
Other financial assets
Other non-financial assets

449,954

(451,216)

(2,207,057)

(742,983)

(30,605)

57,772

40,329

(3,952)

Due to other banks

(133,577)

264,293

Customer accounts

2,337,864

3,502,242

19,679

3,461

(658)

1,640

168,085

2,362,683

Other financial liabilities and provisions for legal proceedings
Other non-financial liabilities

Net cash from operating activities before tax and interest

Interest received

2,633,130

2,784,587

(1,363,530)

(1,383,809)

Income tax paid

(135,680)

(143,349)

Net cash from operating activities after tax

1,302,005

3,620,112

Interest paid

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from disposal of premises and equipment, investment
property and other non-financial assets

3,529

6,807

Acquisition of premises, equipment and intangible assets

(158,099)

(100,413)

Net cash used in investing activities

(154,570)

(93,606)

________________________________________________________________________________________________
The notes set out on pages 6-64 form integral part of these financial statements.
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JSC “ProCredit Bank”
Notes to the Financial Statements – 31 December 2020
(in thousands of Ukrainian Hryvnia, unless otherwise stated)
A. Basis of Preparation
1)

Compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards

JSC “ProCredit Bank” (“the Bank” or “ProCredit Bank”) prepares its financial statements according to International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the IASB.
Changes to accounting policies are described in Note 5.
2)

Reporting Entity and Business Strategy

The Bank is incorporated and domiciled in Ukraine. In 2018 the Bank has changed its legal form from public to private type
of the joint stock company under the decision of the extraordinary shareholders meeting as of 27 June 2018, following
changes in the Ukrainian legislative framework abolishing the mandatory existence of the banks as public stock
corporations in Ukraine. Effective from 7 August 2018 the Bank is a joint stock company of a private type (full official name
according to the Bank’s charter effective as of the reporting date: “Joint Stock Company “ProCredit Bank”).
The Bank strategically focuses on small and medium businesses and private individuals who would like to save and
provides a full range of commercial banking services.
The Bank is operating under a banking licence and a general licence to carry out foreign currency transactions No.195
issued by the National Bank of Ukraine (the “NBU”) on 13 October 2011. The Bank is a member of the Deposit Guarantee
Fund (Certificate №131 issued on 8 November 2012).
As at 31 December 2020 the Bank’s immediate parent is ProCredit Holding AG & Co. KGaA (hereinafter - ProCredit Holding
or the Group) holding 100% of the registered shares as at 31.12.2020 (Note 42). As at 31 December 2020 the Federal
Republic of Germany indirectly own 10.56% of the Bank’s registered shares (31 December 2019: 17.89%). Publicly
available Group financial statements are produced by the Bank’s immediate parent company.
As at 31 December 2020 the Bank has 6 branches throughout Ukraine and 2 stand-alone self-service zones, that branches
have been transformed into during 2020 (2019: 9 branches).
The Bank’s registered address and place of business is 107-A, Peremohy Avenue, Kyiv, 03115, Ukraine.

3) Operating Environment of the Bank
The Bank’s operations are primarily located in Ukraine. The political and economic situation in Ukraine has been subject
to significant turbulence in recent years and demonstrates characteristics of an emerging market. Consequently, operations
in the country involve risks that do not typically exist in other markets.
At the same time, the economy of Ukraine reflected global trends in 2020. The Ukrainian economy has suffered from global
economic crisis caused by coronavirus. According to the NBU inflation report, real GDP drop by an estimated 4.4%, which
was much less than expected at the start of the coronavirus crisis (6%). During 2020, the local currency depreciated by
31.5% to EUR and by 19.4% to USD. In 2020, inflation accelerated to 5%, reaching the midpoint of the target range. For
the year 2021, the inflation rate is expected to increase to the level of 7.0%1. Following the strategy of inflation targeting
the National Bank of Ukraine defines the level of Key Policy Rate (KPR). In 2020, in order to both achieve inflation target
and support economic the NBU significantly decreased KPR. This policy put additional pressure on market with aim to
motivate banking sector to decrease cost of attracted customer funds and respectively loans. In 2021, due to increased
inflationary pressure, the KPR increased to 6.5% and may be increased further. Therefore, a slight increase of the funding
cost could be expected.
In recent years the NBU made certain steps to provide a relief to the currency control restrictions introduced in crisis years.
To revive lending and support economic recovery, the NBU during 2020 maintained a stimulating monetary policy and
introduced new instruments, in particular, long-term refinancing for the banks and interest rate swaps. Also, the NBU
allowed Ukrainian business entities to pay dividends abroad.
In 2020, the Ukrainian banking sector operated in an economic crisis environment because of coronavirus. At the same
time, the Ukraine’s Sovereign rating affirmed at ‘B’ with stable forecast.
The key risk for the banking sector’s profitability is still high non-performing loan level (hereinafter – NPL level). The NBU
has introduced new regulation on resolution of NPL, which was based on European Business Association’s (hereinafter EBA) guidance to banks on non-performing exposures. Banks are required to implement a strategy and an action plan for
management of NPL, which, according to NBU, will decrease their share and volume.

1

NBU inflation report. January,2021
________________________________________________________________________________________________
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JSC “ProCredit Bank”
Notes to the Financial Statements – 31 December 2020
(in thousands of Ukrainian Hryvnia, unless otherwise stated)
The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic and the measures adopted by the Ukrainian government to mitigate the
pandemic’s spread did not have significant negative impact on the Bank activity. The Bank did not close branches due to
COVID-19 pandemic. Nevertheless, the Bank has implemented preventive safety measures in branches and offices to
protect the health of employees and customers. The Bank’s strategic SME “Hausbank” concept and the level of
digitalisation in banking provided a basis for continuing its business operations without major limitations.
The Management closely monitors the development of the situation on the world and Ukrainian markets in order to minimize
negative consequences and respond to mitigate the impact of such events and circumstances as they occur. The Bank
has conducted a stress test and monitors liquidity on a daily basis as part of the operational and strategic management of
liquidity risk in order to ensure compliance with prudential liquidity ratios, match the actual volume of liquid assets to their
required level, as well as ensure long-term liquidity safety.
As at 31 December 2020, quarantine was in force in Ukraine and restrictive anti-epidemic measures were introduced to
prevent the spread of Covid-19. Resolution of the Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine №104 of 17 February 2021 extended
the measures until 30 April 2021.
Whilst management believes it is taking appropriate measures to support the sustainability of the Bank’s business in the
current circumstances, a continuation of the current unstable business environment could negatively affect the Bank’s
results and financial position in a manner not currently determinable. These financial statements reflect management’s
current assessment of the impact of the Ukrainian business environment on the operations and the financial position of the
Bank. The future business environment may differ from management’s assessment.

4)

Use of Assumptions and Estimates

The Bank’s financial reporting and its financial result are influenced by accounting policies, assumptions, estimates, and
management judgement, which necessarily have to be made in the course of preparation of the financial statements.
All estimates and assumptions required in conformity with IFRS are best estimates undertaken in accordance with the
applicable standard. Estimates and judgements are evaluated on a continuous basis, and are based on past experience
and other factors, including expectations with regard to future events and are considered appropriate under the given
circumstances.
Accounting policies and management judgements on certain items are especially critical for the Bank’s results and
financial position due to their materiality. This applies to the following positions:
Impairment of financial assets
Loss allowances are established in an amount equivalent to the expected loss for all financial assets recognised at
amortised cost, for all funding instruments recognised at fair value with changes in fair value reported in Other
Comprehensive Income (FVOCI), and for loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts expected credit losses
(“ECL”) are recorded in an approach with various stages.
Information about judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effects on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements and significant assumptions are included in the following notes:
• classification of financial assets: assessment of the business model within which the assets are held and
assessment of whether the contractual terms of the financial asset are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding – Note 9 (i).
• establishing the criteria for determining whether credit risk on the financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition, determining methodology for incorporating forward-looking information into measurement of
ECL and selection and approval of models used to measure ECL – Note 9 (iv), 46.
• Tax risks – refer to Note 49.

5)

Accounting Developments

(a) Standards, amendments and interpretations that are already effective
Changes in significant accounting policies related to adoption of standards and interpretations applied for the first time in
2020 are provided below. The nature and effect of each new standards and amendment are described below.
•

Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards have a minor impact on the
financial statements. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

•

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8: “Definition of Material” have a minor impact on the financial statements. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

________________________________________________________________________________________________
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(in thousands of Ukrainian Hryvnia, unless otherwise stated)
•

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7: “Interest Rate Benchmark Reform” have a minor impact on the
financial statements. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

The following standards, amendments or interpretations were issued by the IASB and had no impact on the Bank’s
financial statements: Amendments to IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”.
(b) Standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet effective
•

COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions (Amendment to IFRS 16)
The amendment introduces an optional practical expedient for the Bank as a lessee to account for rent
concessions that are a consequence of COVID-19. The practical expedient applies when the following conditions
are met:
•
•
•

the revised consideration for the lease is substantially the same or less than the original consideration
immediately before the revision;
the reduction in lease payments relates to payments due on or before 30 June 2021; and
no other substantive changes have been made to other terms and conditions of the lease.

When applying the practical expedient, the Bank as a lessee is not required to assess whether eligible rent
concessions that are a direct consequence of COVID-19 pandemic are lease modifications.
No practical expedient is provided for lessors. Lessors are required to continue to assess if the rent concessions
related to COVID-19 pandemic are lease modifications and account for them accordingly.
During 2020, the Bank determined that the lease modifications were not a direct consequence of COVID-19
pandemic, and it did not apply such practical expedients.

•

Amendments to IFRS 4: “Deferral of IFRS 9” have no impact on the financial statements. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

•

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 in relation to Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
(IBOR reform) will have a minor impact. The amendments concern changes in contractual cash flows: If a change
in the reference interest rate results in changes in contractual cash flows, the carrying amount of the financial
instruments concerned shall not be adjusted or derecognised, but the effective interest rate shall be updated.
Information must be disclosed on new risks arising from the IBOR reform and on how the transition to new
reference interest rates is handled. Hedge accounting has no impact on the financial statements of the Bank.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

•

Annual improvements to IFRSs (2018-2020 cycle) with amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41
have a minor impact on the financial statements with regard to the amendment to IFRS 9. The amendment
clarifies which fees are to be included when assessing whether the contractual terms of a modified financial
liability differ significantly from the original financial liability. The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

•

Amendments to IFRS 3: “Reference to the Conceptual Framework”, to IAS 16: “Proceeds before Intended Use”
and to IAS 37: “Onerous Contracts: Cost of Fulfilling a Contract” will not have an impact on the financial
statements. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

•

Amendments to IAS 1: "Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current" have a minor impact on the
financial statements. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

•

IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” will not have an impact on the financial statements. The standard is effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

There was no early adoption of any standards, amendments and interpretations not yet effective.

6)

Presentation and Functional Currency

The Bank’s functional and presentation currency is the national currency of Ukraine, the Ukrainian Hryvnia (UAH).
Financial information is presented in UAH and rounded to the nearest thousand unless otherwise stated.

________________________________________________________________________________________________
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(in thousands of Ukrainian Hryvnia, unless otherwise stated)
B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise specified in Accounting developments (Note
5).
7)

Measurement Basis

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis, except that financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss and investment securities at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date in the principal, or in its absence, the most advantageous market to which
the Bank has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.
When available, the Bank measures the fair value of an instrument using quoted prices in an active market for that
instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and
volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.
When there is no quoted price in an active market, the Bank uses valuation techniques that maximise the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique incorporates all the
factors that market participants would take into account in these circumstances.
The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally the transaction price, i.e., the
fair value of the consideration given or received. If the Bank determines that the fair value at initial recognition differs from
the transaction price and the fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or
liability nor based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, the financial instrument is initially
measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference between the fair value at initial recognition and the transaction
price. Subsequently, that difference is recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the life of the instrument,
but no later than when the valuation is supported wholly by observable market data or the transaction is closed out.
IFRS define a hierarchy of fair value determination which reflects the relative reliability of the various ways of obtaining a
fair value:
(a) Active market: Quoted price (Level 1)
Use quoted prices of financial instruments in active markets. A market is regarded as active if market transactions with the
asset or liability occur there sufficiently frequently and in sufficient volumes to ensure the ongoing availability of pricing
information.
(b) Valuation technique using observable inputs (Level 2)
Use quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets or quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in inactive
markets or use valuation models where all significant inputs are observable.
(c) Valuation technique with significant non-observable inputs (Level 3)
Use valuation models where one or more significant inputs are not observable.
If possible, the Bank obtains fair values from quoted market prices; otherwise, the next best available measurement
technique is applied. If observable market interest rates are not available, internal rates are used as an input for a
discounted cash flow model. These internal rates reflect the cost of funds, taking into account foreign currency effects and
maturities as well as a risk margin, e.g. Group Funding interest rates. Internal rates are regularly compared to those applied
for third-party transactions and are consistent with the parameters of an orderly transaction between market participants
under market conditions at the measurement date.
The Bank recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period during which
the change has occurred.

8)

Foreign Currency Translation

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. Monetary items denominated in foreign currency are translated at the closing rate on the reporting
date. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost denominated in foreign currency are translated at the exchange
rate as of the date of initial recognition.
________________________________________________________________________________________________
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The principal UAH rates of exchange used in the preparation of these financial statements are as follows:
Currency

31 December 2020,
UAH

31 December 2019,
UAH

28.2746
34.7396

23.6862
26.4220

1 US dollar (USD)
1 Euro (EUR)

As at the date that these financial statements are authorised for issue, 21 April 2021, the exchange rates are 28.01 UAH
to USD 1.00 and 33.74 UAH to EUR 1.00.

9)

Financial instruments

(i) Classification and measurement
Business model assessment
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI) and fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). The Bank classifies its financial assets both according to
their underlying business model and also their contractual terms from the point of Solely Payments of Principal and Interest
(SPPI) criterion. Management determines the classification of financial assets and liabilities at initial recognition. Financial
assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the period after the Bank changes its business
model for managing financial assets. Financial liabilities are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition.
Differentiation is made between the following business models: “hold to collect”, “hold to collect and sell” and “other”.
Financial assets are assigned to the “hold to collect” business model if their objective is to collect contractual cash flows
through interest and principal payments (SPPI). The balance sheet items allocated to this business model are: “Cash and
cash equivalents”, “Loans and advances to customers” (except for those loans and advances to customers that do not
meet SPPI criterion), “Due from other banks” and “Other financial assets” (except for stated hereinafter).
“Derivative financial assets” (included under “Other financial assets”) are allocated to the “other” business model.
The Bank makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an asset is held at a portfolio level because
this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to management. The information considered
includes:

the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. In particular,
whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest revenue, maintaining a particular
interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of the liabilities that are
funding those assets or realising cash flows through the sale of the assets;

how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Bank’s management;

the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business
model) and how those risks are managed;

how managers of the business are compensated – e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of
the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and
 the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its expectations
about future sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not considered in isolation, but as part
of an overall assessment of how the Bank’s stated objective for managing the financial assets is achieved
and how cash flows are realised.

Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest
For the purposes of this assessment, “principal” is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition.
‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount
outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative
costs), as well as profit margin.
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Bank considers the
contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that
could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making the
assessment, the Bank considers:




contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows;
leverage features;
prepayment and extension terms;

________________________________________________________________________________________________
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terms that limit the Bank’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse asset arrangements);
and
features that modify consideration of the time value of money – e.g. periodical reset of interest rates.

Measurement categories
(a) Financial assets at amortised cost
A financial asset is classified as measured at amortised cost if the financial asset is not designated as at FVTPL, is
allocated to the “hold to collect” business model and the contractual cash flows meet the SPPI criterion. Financial assets
at amortised cost are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market.
Financial assets are recognised when the principal is advanced to the borrowers. These assets are initially recognised at
fair value plus transaction costs; subsequently they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Amortised discounts are accounted for over the respective terms in Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive
Income under “Interest income calculated using the effective interest method” (Note 22).
(b) Financial assets at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in Other Comprehensive Income
A debt instrument is measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:
the asset is held within a “hold to collect or sell” business model and SPPI criterion if fulfilled.
On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Bank may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value in other comprehensive income. This election is made on an investment-by-investment
basis.
Gains and losses on such equity instruments are never reclassified to profit or loss and no impairment is recognised in
profit or loss. Cumulative gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income are transferred to retained earnings
on disposal of an investment.
(c) Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets held for trading or which are not classified in the “hold to collect” or “hold to collect and sell” business
models are allocated to the “other” business model and recognised at fair value through profit or loss. This includes
“derivative financial assets”. Only “derivative financial liabilities” are recognised as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss.
The Bank does not apply hedge accounting. Derivatives with a positive fair value at the balance sheet date are carried as
financial assets and reported under “Derivative financial assets”. Derivatives with a negative fair value are carried as
financial liabilities and are reported under “Derivative financial liabilities”.
Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in Statement of
Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income. Purchases and sales of derivative financial instruments are recognised
on the trade date – the date on which the group commits to purchase or sell the instrument. Subsequently, the financial
instruments are also carried at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in their fair value are immediately
recognised in Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.
Derivative financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired
or where the Bank has transferred legal rights and substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
(d) Other financial liabilities at amortised cost
Other financial liabilities at amortised cost are recognised initially at fair value net of transaction costs incurred. They are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Any difference between proceeds net of
transaction costs and the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the debt instrument. Financial
liabilities at amortised cost are derecognised when they are extinguished – that is, when the obligation is discharged,
cancelled or expired.
(ii) Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
The Bank derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial asset are transferred or in which the Bank neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset. In addition, when loans and receivables are restructured
________________________________________________________________________________________________
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with substantially different terms and conditions, the original financial asset is derecognised and replaced with the new
financial asset.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying amount
allocated to the portion of the asset derecognised) and the sum of (i) the consideration received (including any new asset
obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.
The Bank derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire.
(iii) Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and
only when, the Bank currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and intends either to settle
on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The Bank currently has a legally enforceable
right to set off if that right is not contingent on a future event and enforceable both in the normal course of business and
in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Bank and all counterparties.
(iv) Impairment of Financial Assets
The Bank takes into account expected credit loss when recognising impairment. Except for purchased or originated creditimpaired assets (“POCI”), loss allowances are measured at initial recognition of the financial asset based on the potential
expected credit loss at that time. According to the expected credit loss model in IFRS 9, loss allowances are recognised
for expected credit losses which could result from default events of performing credit exposures within the next 12 months
(Stage 1). For assets, whose credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition (Stage 2) and for assets which
are credit-impaired (Stage 3), IFRS 9 requires the recognition of loss allowances for the expected credit losses for the
entire remaining maturity of the asset.
For the recognition of loss allowances, a three-stage model is used based on expected credit losses.





Stage 1: All financial assets are generally classified as “Stage 1” at initial recognition. The Bank establishes loss
allowances in an amount equivalent to the 12 month expected credit losses, insofar as there has not been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Stage 2: If the credit risk increases significantly, then “Stage 2” classification is assigned, and loss allowances are
established in an amount equivalent to the lifetime expected credit losses.
Stage 3: Defaulted financial assets are assigned to “Stage 3” and loss allowances are likewise established in an
amount equivalent to the lifetime expected credit losses. For significant exposures, risk provisioning is determined
on the basis of recoverable cash flows. For insignificant exposures, loss allowances are determined on the basis
of portfolio-based parameters. Interest income is recognised at net book value (less loss allowances).
Financial assets which are already impaired at initial recognition (“POCI”) are measured initially at fair value and
without loss allowances. Regardless of future changes in the credit risk, POCI assets remain in POCI until their
disposal.

For the “Other financial assets” position, except for guarantee deposits, loss allowances are established using the simplified
approach. As a rule, loss allowances are recorded at initial recognition and on each subsequent reporting date in an amount
equivalent to the expected credit losses during the total maturity period. For these generally short-term assets, the total
maturity period has been set at 12 months.
Accounting policy for significant increase in credit risk, definition of default and credit impaired assets is presented in Notes
9 (iv), 46.

Inputs into measurement of Expected Credit Losses (ECLs)
The key inputs into the measurement of ECLs are likely to be the term structures of the following variables:




probability of default (PD);
loss given default (LGD); and
exposure at default (EAD).
- Probability of default (PD)

The probability of a loan default within a certain period of time is derived from historical default events. These data include
the time, type and amount of default as well as information about the characteristics of the customer from the internal risk
classification system. The parameters differentiate the risk levels of exposures according to the customer segments. The
Bank applies different PDs for business SME clients depending on risk classification and for non-SME clients/private clients
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depending on client type (business/private), restructuring status and exposure size. For Stage 3 100% PDs is applied.
Business SME clients are those with total exposure (on and off balance) more than 50,000 EUR at the reporting date that
have at least one contract with business purpose. Clients without business contract are considered as private clients. A
statistical models was used to analyse the collected data and make forecasts for the expected PD based on scenarios for
the development of the economic environment. In addition, the PDs over the remaining lifetime of an exposure are
estimated.
- Loss Given Default (LGD)
The expected LGD is based on historical data about recoveries obtained from defaulted customers. LGDs are calculated
as discounted cash flows, taking into account the cost of recovery and the size of the credit exposure. Estimated LGDs are
modelled as forward-looking forecasts that account for the assumed scenarios about the development of the economic
environment. For the LGD estimates direct recovery cost data and repossessions history are considered. Direct recovery
cost data includes cost data of all types related to the recovery process of defaulted credit exposures. Data on repossessed
collateral contains detailed information on collateral repossession and sales. LGD is calculated separately for very small
(up to 50,000 EUR), small (more than 50,000 EUR up to 250,000 EUR) and medium (above 250,000 EUR) exposures.
- Exposure at Default (EAD)
EAD is the expected exposure amount at the time of a loan default; it is derived from the currently outstanding receivable
from the customer and possible future changes under the applicable contractual conditions. Thus, the EAD consists of the
gross carrying amount at the time of default. For exposures with regular repayment plans, the modelled EAD is adjusted
for the expected possibility of early repayment based on historical observations and on scenarios for the development of
the economic environment and associated future forecasts. Based on historical data, estimates are made of the potential
exposures that may arise in the future from the utilisation of existing credit commitments, such as credit lines or overdraft
facilities. For financial guarantees, the EAD corresponds to the guaranteed amount; based on professional discretion, the
conversion factor has generally been set at 100%.
For certain financial instruments, such as overdrafts and credit lines, that may include both a loan and an undrawn
commitment component, the Bank measures expected credit losses over the period that the Bank is exposed to credit risk,
that is, until the expected credit losses would be mitigated by credit risk management actions. This is because despite the
contractual ability to demand repayment and cancel the undrawn commitment, the Bank continues to be exposed to credit
risk until the expected credit losses are mitigated by credit risk management actions, and the credit risk is not limited by
the contractual period of notice to the borrower with demand of loan repayment.
Forward-looking information
Under IFRS 9, the Bank incorporates forward-looking information into its assessment of its measurement of ECLs. This
assessment is based on external information. Several macroeconomic quantities are investigated regarding their potential
as a part of the PD model. The time series of macroeconomic factors applicable for Ukraine is taken from the IMF World
Economic Outlook Database. In particular, at least the following quantities are considered for the specification of the PD
models:
- Growth of the gross domestic product
- Percentage change of the inflation
- Unemployment rate.
These quantities reflect directly the development of the business cycle and are therefore valid potential inputs for a
meaningful PD model.
Input data for the assessment of credit risk parameters are based on multi-year data histories for Bank’s borrowers. The
influence of customer-specific risk characteristics and macroeconomic factors on the selected parameters is determined
through regression analysis. The relevant macroeconomic factors (GDP growth, inflation rate and unemployment rate) are
selected on the basis of their statistical significance and economic relevance. For PDs and LGDs, a probability-weighted
average value is calculated based on the various scenarios for the macroeconomic factors in the forecast year.
The hedge accounting requirements have not affected the financial statements as the Bank does not apply hedge
accounting.
(v) Writing off loans and advances
When a loan is uncollectible and there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, it is written off against the related
allowance for loan impairment. Such loans are written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the
amount of the loss has been determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off decrease the amount
of deductions for loan impairment in profit or loss.
Typically, loan exposures of EUR/USD 10,000 or less are written off after 180 days in arrears, in particular if they are not
collateralised.
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Typically, loan exposures of more than EUR/USD 10,000 and up to EUR/USD 30,000 are written off after 360 days in
arrears, in particular if they are not collateralised.
Loan exposures of more than EUR/USD 30,000 may be written off after 360 days in arrears unless the Bank decides to
keep the credit exposure active, e.g. to allow for an on-going recovery process to finish. However, the Bank can decide to
keep any size of credit exposure active if future recoveries can reasonably be expected. Typically, such loan exposures
will then continue to be recognised until full recovery has been achieved or the Bank decides to write off the loan exposure.

(vi) Modification of financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial assets
Non-substantial modification
Non-substantial modification is a modification event that does not result in derecognition of the original asset. The effect
is recognised through profit or loss as a modification gain or modification loss. The modification gain or loss is calculated
as the difference between the original gross carrying amount and the present value of the modified contractual cash flows
discounted at the original effective interest rate. For floating-rate financial assets, the original effective interest rate used
to calculate the modification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time of the modification.
Changes in cash flows on existing financial assets or financial liabilities are not considered as modification, if they result
from existing contractual terms.
In case of change of contractual terms of a financial instrument to reflect a change in market rates of interest because the
borrower has an option to repay without significant penalty combined with its ability to obtain alternative financing at market
rates from other financial market participants, such a change is not treated as modification. In these cases, a new effective
interest rate is applied prospectively from the contract modification date.
Substantial modification
When financial instruments are restructured with substantially different terms and conditions, the original financial asset is
derecognised and replaced with the new financial asset. The terms are substantially different if the discounted present
value of the cash flows under the new terms and discounted using the original effective interest rate is at least 10% different
from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial asset. If a modification is substantial
and the original asset is credit-impaired, the existing financial asset will be derecognised and a “new POCI” financial asset
in Stage 3 is recognized at its fair value. The Bank performs a quantitative and qualitative evaluation of whether the
modification is substantial for impaired assets, i.e. whether the cash flows of the original financial asset and the modified
or replaced financial asset are substantially different. The Bank concludes that the modification is substantial as a result
of the following qualitative factors: change the currency of the financial asset and change of the borrower.
If cash flows are modified when the borrower is in financial difficulties, then the objective of the modification is usually to
maximise recovery of the original contractual terms rather than to originate a new asset with substantially different terms.
Financial liabilities
The Bank derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are
substantially different. Bank performs an evaluation of whether the modification is substantial considering qualitative
factors and quantitative factors. Substantial modification of the terms of an existing financial liability is accounted for as
an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability.
(vii) Assets acquired in exchange for loans (repossessed property)
On the date of foreclosure any collateral received is initially measured based on the carrying amount of the defaulted loan.
Subsequently these assets are stated at cost less impairment.
(viii) Presentation of allowance for ECL
Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as follows:



financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the assets;
loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: generally, as a provision.
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10) Comparatives
In order to comply with the requirements of IFRS and to meet the objective of providing information that is useful in making
economic decisions, the Bank can adjust the corresponding figures to conform to the presentation of the current year
amounts.

11) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, cash balances with the National Bank of Ukraine (other than mandatory
reserves in the National Bank of Ukraine), deposit certificates issued by the National Bank of Ukraine, correspondent
accounts and overnight placements with other banks and other money market instruments that are highly liquid and readily
convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of changes in value.

12) Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances to customers’ caption in the statement of financial position include:

loans to customers measured at amortised cost (see Note 9(i)); they are initially measured at fair value plus
incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently at their amortised cost using the effective interest method;

loans to customers mandatorily measured at FVTPL due to non-compliance with the SPPI-criterion (see Note 9)
(i)); these are measured at fair value with changes recognised immediately in profit or loss; and

finance lease receivables.
Loans to customers also included finance lease receivables in which the Bank was the lessor.

13) Premises and Equipment
Premises and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and provision for impairment, where required.
Construction in progress is carried at cost, less provision for impairment where required. Upon completion, assets are
transferred to premises and leasehold improvements at their carrying amount. Construction in progress is not depreciated
until the asset is available for use.
Costs of minor repairs and maintenance are expensed when incurred. Cost of replacing major parts or components of
premises and equipment items are capitalised and the replaced part is retired.
At each reporting date, management assesses whether there is any indication of impairment of premises and equipment.
If any such indication exists, management estimates the recoverable amount, which is determined as the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. The carrying amount is reduced to the recoverable amount and the
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for an asset in prior years is reversed if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s value in use or fair value less costs to sell.
Gains and losses on disposals determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount are recognised in profit or loss.
Depreciation of premises, leasehold improvements and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives on the following basis (in years):
Buildings
IT and other equipment
Furniture and fittings
Leasehold improvements

20
3-5
5-7
over the lower of: term of the underlying lease or term of useful life

Depreciation of premises, leasehold improvements and equipment starts when an asset is available for use.
The residual value of an asset is the estimated amount that the Bank would currently obtain from disposal of the asset less
the estimated costs of disposal, if the asset were already of the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful
life. The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

14) Investment property
Investment property is a building or a part of building held to earn rental income or for capital appreciation and which is not
used by the Bank or held for the sale in the ordinary course of business.
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Investment property is recognised at cost, including the acquisition costs, and carried at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any accumulated impairment. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 20
years for buildings. The assets’ residual values, useful lives and method are reviewed and adjusted at each reporting date.
Gains or losses on disposal of investment property are calculated as proceeds less residual value. Subsequent expenditure
is capitalised to the asset’s carrying amount only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
expenditure will flow to the Bank and the cost can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are
expensed when incurred.

15) Intangible Assets
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the
specific software. These costs are amortised on the basis of the expected useful lives. Software has a maximum expected
useful life of 10 years.

16) Leases
The Bank as the lessee
At contract begin, the Bank assesses whether the agreement constitutes or contains a lease. This is the case when the
agreement grants the right to control the use of an identified asset for a specified period of time in return for a fee. The
Bank uses the option to account for each leasing component and all related non-leasing components as a single leasing
component.
The Bank recognises an asset for the right of use granted as well as a lease liability on the date of provision. The right of
use is recognised at acquisition costs. These include the amount of the lease liability, plus all lease payments made at or
before provision, initial direct costs and estimated dismantling and removal costs, less any incentives received. The right
of use is amortised on a straight-line basis until the end of the lease term. Any impairment losses are also taken into
account. The lease liability is recognised at the present value of the lease payments not yet made at that time. The lease
payments are discounted at the lessee's incremental borrowing rate of interest. They are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Short-term leases or leases based on assets of minor value are not recognised in the balance sheet; instead, the lease
payments are recognised under administrative expenses in the profit or loss statement over the term of the lease.
The Bank as the lessor
Finance leases
When assets are held subject to a finance lease, the present value of the minimum lease payments is recognised as a
receivable from customers under “Loans and advances to customers”. Payments received under leases are divided into
an amortisation component and an income component. The income component is recognised under “Other interest
income”. Premiums received are recognised over the term of the lease using the effective interest rate method under
“Other interest income”.

17) Income tax
Income taxes have been provided for in the financial statements in accordance with Ukrainian legislation enacted or
substantively enacted by the reporting date. The income tax charge comprises current tax and deferred tax and is
recognised in profit or loss unless it is recognised directly in other comprehensive income because it relates to transactions
that are also recognised, in the same or a different period, directly in other comprehensive income.
Current tax
Current tax is the amount expected to be paid to or recovered from the taxation authorities in respect of taxable profits or
losses for the current and prior periods. Taxes, other than on income, are recorded within “administrative and other
operating expenses”.
Deferred tax
Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method for tax loss carry forwards and temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. In accordance
with the initial recognition exemption, deferred taxes are not recorded for temporary differences on initial recognition of an
asset or a liability in a transaction other than a business combination if the transaction, when initially recorded, affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit. Deferred tax balances are measured at tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at
the reporting date which are expected to apply to the period when the temporary differences will reverse or the tax loss
carry forwards will be utilised. Deferred tax assets for deductible temporary differences and tax loss carry forwards are
recorded only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the deductions can
be utilised.
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Uncertain tax positions
The Bank's uncertain tax positions are reassessed by the management at every reporting date. Liabilities are recorded for
income tax positions that are determined by the management as more likely than not to result in additional taxes being
levied if the positions were to be challenged by the tax authorities. The assessment is based on the interpretation of tax
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the statement of financial position date and any known Court or
other rulings on such issues. Liabilities for penalties, interest and taxes other than on income are recognised based on the
management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligations at the reporting date.

18) Due to other banks, Customer accounts and Other borrowed funds
Due to other banks, Customer accounts and Other borrowed funds are initially measured at fair value minus incremental
direct transaction costs, and subsequently measured at their amortised cost using the effective interest method (see Note 22).

19) Provisions for Liabilities and Charges
Provisions for liabilities and charges are non-financial liabilities of uncertain timing or amount. They are accrued when the
Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation
can be made.
20) Financial Guarantee Contracts and Loan Commitments
Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for
a loss which it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due, in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. Such financial guarantees are given to banks, financial institutions and other bodies on behalf of customers to
secure loans, overdrafts and other banking facilities. Loan commitments are firm commitments to provide credit under prespecified terms and conditions.
For loan commitments: the Bank recognises a loss allowance (see Note 9 (iv)).
Financial guarantees issued or commitments to provide a loan at a below-market interest rate are initially measured at fair
value. Subsequently, they are measured as follows: at the higher of the loss allowance determined in accordance with
IFRS 9 and the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised in
accordance with the principles of IFRS 15.
Liabilities arising from financial guarantees and loan commitments are included within “Other financial liabilities and
provisions for legal proceedings”.
21) Share Capital and Other Reserves
Ordinary shares and non-redeemable preference shares are both classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Excess of fair
value of consideration received on nominal value of issued shares is accounted as share premium.
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are approved by the Bank’s sole
shareholder.

22) Interest Income and Expense
Effective interest rate
Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. The ‘effective interest rate’
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial
instrument to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or the amortised cost of the financial liability.
When calculating the effective interest rate for financial instruments other than POCI assets, the Bank estimates future
cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not expected credit losses. For POCI assets, a
credit-adjusted effective interest rate is calculated using estimated future cash flows including expected credit losses.
The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction costs and fees and points paid or received that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include incremental costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of a financial asset or financial liability.
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Amortised cost and gross carrying amount
The ‘amortised cost’ of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is
measured on initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the
effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount and, for financial assets,
adjusted for any expected credit loss allowance.
The ‘gross carrying amount of a financial asset’ measured at amortised cost is the amortised cost of a financial asset
before adjusting for any expected credit loss allowance.
Calculation of interest income and expense
The effective interest rate of a financial asset or financial liability is calculated on initial recognition of a financial asset or a
financial liability. In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability. The effective interest
rate is revised as a result of periodic re-estimation of cash flows of floating rate instruments to reflect movements in market
rates of interest.
However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If the asset is no longer creditimpaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis.
For financial assets that were credit-impaired on initial recognition, interest income is calculated by applying the creditadjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the asset. The calculation of interest income does not revert to a
gross basis, even if the credit risk of the asset improves.
For information on when financial assets are credit-impaired, see Note 45.
Presentation
Interest income calculated using the effective interest method presented in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income includes interest on financial assets measured at amortised cost.
Other interest income presented in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income includes interest income
on non-derivative debt financial instruments measured at FVTPL and net investments in finance leases.
Interest expense presented in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income includes interest expense
on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

23) Fee and Commission Income and Expenses
Fee and commission income and expense that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset or financial
liability are included in the effective interest rate (see Note 22).
Other fee and commission income is recognised as the related services are performed. If a loan commitment is not
expected to result in the draw-down of a loan, then the related loan commitment fee is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the commitment period.
A contract with a customer that results in a recognised financial instrument in the Bank’s financial statements may be
partially in the scope of IFRS 9 and partially in the scope of IFRS 15. If this is the case, then the Bank first applies IFRS 9
to separate and measure the part of the contract that is in the scope of IFRS 9 and then applies IFRS 15 to the residual.
Other fee and commission expenses relate mainly to transaction and service fees, which are expensed as the services are
received.
24) Segment Reporting
In 2020 and 2019 the Bank operated in one major sector of banking activity – full service to small and medium clients,
including account service, term deposits and saving accounts, term loans, credit lines, business overdrafts and other forms
of financing. From the economic risk perspective, all business loan clients of the bank are located in Ukraine. All above
considered, segment analysis is not presented in the financial statements of the Bank. The Bank has no customers making
more than 10% of the Bank’s revenues.

25) Staff Costs and Related Contributions
Wages, salaries, unified social tax contributions, annual leave and sick leave, and non-monetary benefits are accrued in
the year in which the associated services are rendered by the employees of the Bank.
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С. Notes to the Statement of Profit of Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
26) Interest Income and Expense
Note
Interest income
Loans and advances to customers
Cash and cash equivalents – Deposit certificates issued by the NBU
Due from other banks
Total interest income

Interest expense
Customer accounts
Other borrowed funds
Interest expenses for leases (as lessee)
Subordinated debt
Due to other banks
Total interest expense

Net interest income

39
40

2020

2019

2,317,377

2,471,380

241,277
13,840

253,341

2,572,494

2,768,695

(796,253)
(473,984)
(2,895)
-

(875,989)
(549,887)
(3,913)
(16,627)

(11,938)

(6,317)

(1,285,070)

(1,452,733)

1,287,424

1,315,962

43,974

Interest income and expense arising from transactions with related parties are disclosed in Note 50.
The amounts reported above include UAH 2,556,480 thousand (2019: UAH 2,757,371 thousand) of interest income
calculated using the effective interest rate method that relate to financial assets measured at amortised cost.
27) Fee and Commission Income and Expense
2020

2019

Fee and commission income
Settlement and cash transactions
Foreign currencies exchange operations
Cards
Other

127,175
83,149
20,419
11,484

124,984
75,717
28,454
9,609

Total fee and commission income

242,227

238,764

Fee and commission expense
Settlement and cash transactions
Cards

(34,565)
(32,055)

(26,686)
(28,409)

Total fee and commission expense

(66,620)

(55,095)

Net fee and commission income

175,607

183,669

Fee and commission expense arising from transactions with related parties are disclosed in Note 50.
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28) Administrative and Other Operating Expenses
Note
Staff costs
Repair and maintenance
Expenses to Deposits insurance fund
Depreciation of premises, equipment and investment property
Expenses for impairment of repossessed properties
Management fee
Taxes other than on income
Advertising, marketing and entertainment
Professional services
Business travel, training expenses
Mail and telecommunications
Security and insurance services
Office expenses
Amortisation of computer software licences
Provisions for litigations
Operating lease expense for premises
Other

Total administrative and other operating expenses

34

35

2020

2019

(196,316)
(119,193)
(54,296)
(42,103)
(30,894)
(30,382)
(28,049)
(25,805)
(21,308)
(15,224)

(171,553)
(82,283)
(41,685)
(42,913)
(25,037)
(21,937)
(31,890)
(29 869)
(25,440)
(10,677)
(10,034)

(12,451)
(10,505)
(7,137)
(3,582)
(2,662)
(1,331)
(5,244)

(606,482)

(10,942)
(2,700)
(35,663)
(1,843)
(8,607)

(553,073)

Included in staff costs are social contributions of UAH 33,015 thousand (2019: UAH 28,709 thousand). Information on
administrative and other expenses from transactions with related parties is disclosed in Note 50.
Depreciation of premises, equipment and investment property for the year ended 31 December 2019 included
UAH 11 thousand of depreciation of investment property.

29) Income Taxes
Income tax expense comprises the following:
2020

2019

Current tax expense
Deferred tax income/(expense)

(134,928)
5,364

(142,203)
(8,939)

Income tax expense for the year

(129,564)

(151,142)

The income tax rate applicable to the Bank’s income is 18% (2019: 18%). Reconciliation between the expected and the
actual income tax expense is provided below.
2020

2019

671,757

847,366

Theoretical tax expense at the statutory rate (2020: 18%; 2019: 18%)
Items not recognised in tax accounting

(120,916)
(8,648)

(152,526)
1,384

Income tax expense for the year

(129,564)

(151,142)

Profit before tax
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The tax effect of the movements in temporary differences in 2020 is detailed below and is recorded at the anticipated
rates mentioned above.
1 January
2020

Profit or Loss

31 December
2020

Tax effect of deductible/(taxable) temporary
differences:
Premises and equipment
Repossessed property
Other accrued expenses and provisions

2,253
898

(382)
3,310
2,436

1,871
3,310
3,334

Net deferred tax asset

3,151

5,364

8,515

The tax effect of the movements in these differences in 2019 is detailed below and is recorded at the anticipated rates
mentioned above.

Tax effect of deductible/(taxable) temporary
differences:
Loans and advances to customers
Premises and equipment
Intangible assets
Other accrued expenses and provisions

Net deferred tax asset

1 January
2019

Profit or Loss

31 December
2019

5,623
2,068
3,006
1,393

(5,623)
185
(3,006)
(495)

2,253
898

12,090

(8,939)

3,151
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D. Notes to the Statement of Financial Position
30) Cash and Cash Equivalents
2020

2019

Cash on hand
Cash balances with the NBU
Correspondent accounts and overnight placements with other banks
- Ukraine
- Other countries
Deposit certificates of the NBU
Loss allowance for expected credit losses on cash on hand, cash balances
with the NBU and deposit certificates of the NBU
Loss allowance for correspondent accounts and overnight placements with
other banks

162,418
942,064

152,496
458,287

25,000
3,841,350
2,030,604

202
2,195,179
3,987,107

(1,654)

(912)

(7)

-

Total cash and cash equivalents

6,999,775

6,792,359

As at 31 December 2020 cash and equivalents are classified in Stage 1 as there are no signs of impairment of these
assets.
The credit quality of cash and cash equivalents except for cash on hand balances and loss allowances as at 31 December
2020 may be summarised based on the lowest of the ratings assigned to the counterparties by the international rating
agencies (Fitch and S&P) as follows:
Cash balances with
the NBU

National Bank of Ukraine
A- rated
BBB rated
Unrated

Total cash and cash
equivalents, excluding
cash on hand

Correspondent
accounts and
overnight
placements with
other banks

Deposit
certificates of the
NBU

Total

942,064
-

129
3,841,221

2,030,604
-

2,972,668
129
3,841,221

-

25,000

-

25,000

942,064

3,866,350

2,030,604

6,839,018

As at 31 December 2019 cash and equivalents are classified in Stage 1 as there are no signs of impairment of these
assets.
Mandatory reserve on a correspondent account with the NBU can be used by the Bank without restrictions. Therefore, the
total amount on correspondent account with the NBU is presented within cash and cash equivalents.
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The credit quality of cash and cash equivalents except for cash on hand balances and loss allowances as at 31 December
2019 may be summarised based on the lowest of the ratings assigned to the counterparties by the international rating
agencies (Fitch and S&P) as follows:
Cash balances with
the NBU

National Bank of Ukraine

Deposit
certificates of the
NBU

Total

458,287

-

3,987,107

4,445,394

-

110
2,194,567
502
202

-

110
2,194,567
502
202

458,287

2,195,381

3,987,107

6,640,775

A- rated
BBB rated
BB- rated
Unrated

Total cash and cash
equivalents, excluding
cash on hand

Correspondent
accounts and
overnight
placements with
other banks

As at 31 December 2020, Ukraine’s sovereign credit rating assigned by Fitch was B (31 December 2019: B).
The following table show reconciliation from the opening to the closing balances of the loss allowance for cash and cash
equivalents during 2020 and 2019 according to IFRS 9.
2020
2019
Note
Stage 1
Stage 1
Balance at 1 January
Net remeasurement of loss allowance

33

Balance at 31 December

912

3,817

749

(2,905)

1,661

912

Currency and maturity analyses of cash and cash equivalents are disclosed in Note 46. Refer to Note 48 for the estimated
fair value of each class of cash and cash equivalents. Related party balances are disclosed in Note 50.

31) Due from other banks

The credit quality of due from other banks as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 may be summarised based
on the lowest of the ratings assigned to the counterparties by the international rating agencies (Fitch and S&P) as follows:
2020

2019

Unrated
Loss allowance on placements with other banks

-

451,261
(45)

Balance at 31 December

-

451,216
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As at 31 December 2020 due from other banks are classified in Stage 1 as there are no signs of impairment or significant
increase of credit risk of these assets. The following table show reconciliation from the opening to the closing balances of
the loss allowance for due from other banks during 2020 and 2019 according to IFRS 9.
2020
2019
Stage 1
Stage 1
Balance at 1 January
45
Net remeasurement of loss allowance
45
(45)
Balance at 31 December

-

45

32) Loans and Advances to Customers
Loans and advances to customers as at 31 December 2020 are as follows:
Gross amount

Allowance for
expected credit
losses

Net
amount

Share of
total
portfolio

Number of
outstanding
loans

Share of
total
number

Business loans
Private loans

20,093,514
59,526

(650,660)
(3,664)

19,442,854
55,862

99.7%
0.3%

4,342
300

93.5%
6.5%

Total

20,153,040

(654,324)

19,498,716

100.00%

4,642

100.00%

Category Private loans includes loans to private individuals for consumer purposes only.
As at 31 December 2020 loans amounting to UAH 105,065 thousand (31 December 2019: UAH 120,622 thousand) are
measured at FVTPL as SPPI criterion is not met.
Loans and advances to customers as at 31 December 2019 are as follows:
Gross amount

Allowance for
expected credit
losses

Net
amount

Share of
total
portfolio

Number of
outstanding
loans

Share of
total
number

Business loans
Private loans

16,534,244
27,854

(436,651)
(2,565)

16,097,593
25,289

99.8%
0.2%

4,093
270

93.8%
6.2%

Total

16,562,098

(439,216)

16,122,882

100.0%

4,363

100.0%
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As at 31 December 2020 loans and advances to customers included net investment in finance leases amounting to UAH
1,198 thousand (31 December 2019: UAH 7,499 thousand).
Economic sector risk concentrations in the customer loan portfolio are as follows:
2020

Agriculture and food industry
Manufacturing
Trade
Services
Transport and communication
Individuals
Total loans and advances to customers, gross
(before allowance for expected credit losses)

2019

Amount

%

Amount

%

9,576,566
5,642,221
3,451,969
698,875
723,883
59,526

48
28
17
3
4
-

8,421,613
3,922,973
2,902,101
608,450
679,107
27,854

51
24
18
4
4
-

20,153,040

100

16,562,098

100

Refer to Note 48 for the estimated fair value of loans and advances to customers.
Currency and maturity analyses of “loans and advances to customers” are disclosed in Note 46. The information on related
party balances is disclosed in Note 50.
The net loss from modification of financial assets with their loss allowance measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL
was UAH 5,403 thousand in 2020 (31 December 2019: UAH 3,147 thousand). Balance value of modified financial assets
with their loss allowance measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL as at 31 December 2020 was UAH 162,202
thousand (31 December 2019: UAH 95,702 thousand).
COVID-19 impact on Loans and advances to customers
The following table shows the share of customer loan portfolio which is subject to moratoriums due to COVID-19 or which
has been restructured due to COVID-19, outstanding as of 31 December 2020. Moratorium means any form of payment
holiday for loan contracts, which was applied as a supportive measure for clients who faced effects of COVID-19 pandemic.
Contract with expired moratorium is a contract, which returned to the standard payment schedule after the implementation
of COVID-19 related measures. Moratoriums were typically issued for a period of three months (for all economic sectors)
to six months (for the most affected sectors). Application of a moratorium does not automatically leads to forbearance
measures or risk classification downgrades.

under moratorium due to COVID-19
moratorium only
moratorium and restructuring
with expired moratorium due to COVID-19

Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

POCI

Total

12,364

18,953

5,886

-

37,203

12,364
-

18,953
-

5,886

-

31,317
5,886

1,448,623

137,587

90,143

26,706

1,703,059

moratorium only
moratorium and restructuring

1,448,623
-

116,201
21,386

3,237
86,906

26,706

1,568,061
134,998

Total gross outstanding amount

1,460,987

156,540

96,029

26,706

1,740,262
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33) Allowance for Expected Credit Losses on Loans and Advances to Customers
Movements in the allowance for expected credit losses on loans and advances to customers at amortised cost during 2020
are as follows:
Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

POCI

Total

Balance at 1 January 2020
Transfer to Stage 1
Transfer to Stage 2
Transfer to Stage 3
Net remeasurement of loss allowance
Write-offs and sales
Increase of loss allowance to reflect accumulated
contractual interest
Foreign exchange and other movements

112,544
28,926
(92,713)
(308)
251,413
-

13,839
(28,741)
97,000
(20,765)
86,321
-

308,204
(185)
(4,287)
21,073
(98,812)
(104,791)

4,629
1,772
(2,947)

439,216
240,694
(107,738)

-

-

15,320

-

15,320

16,126

11,497

38,501

708

66,832

Balance at 31 December 2020

315,988

159,151

175,023

4,162

654,324

Loans to customers at amortised cost

Movements in the allowance for expected credit losses on loans and advances to customers at amortised cost during 2019
are as follows:
Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

POCI

Total

Balance at 1 January 2019
Transfer to Stage 1
Transfer to Stage 2
Transfer to Stage 3
Net remeasurement of loss allowance
Write-offs and sales
Increase of loss allowance to reflect accumulated
contractual interest
Foreign exchange and other movements

139,559
1,011
(7,149)
(538)
(22,362)
(14)
-

39,371
(789)
7,365
(65,707)
43,954
-

237,437
(222)
(216)
66,245
94,035
(83,014)
20,635

1,956
4,989
(661)
-

418,323
120,616
(83,689)
20,635

2,037

(10,355)

(26,696)

(1,655)

(36,669)

Balance at 31 December 2019

112,544

13,839

308,204

4,629

439,216

Loans to customers at amortised cost

As at 31 December 2020 loans and advances to customers comprise UAH 11,938,749 thousand (31 December 2019:
UAH 8,057,636 thousand) of loans granted during 2020, or 59% of the loan portfolio (31 December 2019: 49%), excluding
loans measured at FVTPL. Allowance for ECL on these loans as at 31 December 2020 amounted to UAH 268,918
thousand (31 December 2019: UAH 90,403 thousand).
During 2020 the Bank has written off and sold UAH 107,738 thousand of impaired loans (2019: UAH 83,689 thousand).
The contractual amount outstanding on financial assets that were written off during the year ended 31 December 2020 and
that are still subject to enforcement activity is UAH 32,548 thousand (2019: UAH 82,834 thousand).
Impairment losses on financial assets during 2019 and 2019 are presented as follows:
Note
Allowance for expected credit losses on loans and advances to customers
Recoveries from written-off loans
Cash and cash equivalents
Loss allowances on contingencies and commitments
Other financial assets

Total

30

2020

2019

240,694 120,616
(11,321) (9,430)
749 (2,905)
13,668
3 139
3,007
1 009

246,797 112,429
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34) Premises and Equipment
The changes in premises and equipment are as follows:
Note Land and ROU assets
buildings

Leasehold
Assets Furniture
IT and
and
improunder
other
fixtures equipment
vements construction

Total

Cost at 1 January 2019
Accumulated depreciation

184,753
(37,661)

-

17,348
(13,828)

76,541
-

33,651
(14,259)

96,888
(68,071)

409,181
(133,819)

Net book value as at
1 January 2019

147,092

-

3,520

76,541

19,392

28,817

275,362

-

27,227

-

-

-

2,270
(1,435)

1,178
-

475
-

72,566
-

8,223
(265)

5,977
(1,356)

90,689
(3,056)

1,141
(11,603)

(10,975)

(2,522)

-

265
(4,019)

1,255
(13,783)

2,661
(42,902)

Net book value as at
31 December 2019

137,465

17,430

1,473

149,107

23,596

20,910

349,981

Cost at 31 December 2019
Accumulated depreciation

185,588
(48,123)

28,405
(10,975)

17,823
(16,350)

149,107
-

41,609
(18,013)

101,509
(80,599)

524,041
(174,060)

Net book value as at
31 December 2019

137,465

17,430

1,473

149,107

23,596

20,910

349,981

12,201
7,946

20,628
-

502
-

104,564
(7,946)

10,747
107

30,054
(107)

178,696
-

-

(7,516)

(2,645)

-

(32)
(972)

32
(409)

(11,542)

-

4,062

2,559

-

724

382

7,727

(12,688)

(9,905)

(695)

-

(6,589)

(12,226)

(42,103)

Net book value as at
31 December 2020

144,924

24,699

1,194

245,725

27,581

38,636

482,759

Cost at 31 December 2020
Accumulated depreciation

205,735
(60,811)

41,517
(16,818)

15,680
(14,486)

245,725
-

51,491
(23,910)

131,047
(92,411)

691,195
(208,436)

Net book value as at
31 December 2020

144,924

24,699

1,194

245,725

27,581

38,636

482,759

Transition to IFRS 16
Additions
Disposals at historical cost
Disposals of accumulated
depreciation
Depreciation charge

Additions
Transfers at historical cost
Transfers of accumulated
depreciation
Disposals at historical cost
Disposals of accumulated
depreciation
Depreciation and
amortisation charge

28

28

-

27,227

Assets under construction consist mainly of the construction and refurbishment of branch premises. Upon completion
when assets are available for use they are transferred to “Land and buildings” or “Leasehold improvements”.
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35) Intangible Assets
The changes in intangible assets are as follows:
Computer software licences
Note
Cost as at 1 January
Accumulated amortisation

Net book value as at 1 January

Additions
Disposals at historical cost
Disposals of accumulated depreciation
Amortisation charge

28

Net book value as at 31 December

Cost as at 31 December
Accumulated amortisation

Net book value as at 31 December

2020

2019

35,334
(31,950)

34,735
(29,250)

3,384

5,485

5,190
(3,582)

1,484
(885)
(2,700)

4,992

3,384

40,524
(35,532)

35,334
(31,950)

4,992

3,384

2020

2019

39,951
-

2,642
779

36) Other Financial and Non-financial Assets

Other financial assets
Guarantee deposits
Derivatives

41

Other financial assets
Loss allowances for expected credit losses on other
financial assets

8,286

13,065

(1,957)

(1,931)

Total other financial assets

46,280

14,555

Other non-financial assets
Repossessed property
Prepayments
Other non-financial assets

59,700
32,923
2,757

117,290
22,190
1,355

Total other non-financial assets

95,380

140,835

141,660

155,390

Total other financial and non-financial assets
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The following table shows a breakdown of repossessed property:
2020

2019

- other assets

32,926
25,208
1,566

76,442
37,825
3,023

Total

59,700

117,290

- real estate
- land

The credit quality of other financial assets as at 31 December 2020, based on the lowest out of the ratings assigned to the
counterparties by the international rating agencies (Fitch and S&P), may be summarised as follows:
Guarantee deposits
BBB
Loss allowances

39,951
(26)

Total guarantee deposits

39,925

The credit quality of other financial assets as at 31 December 2019, based on the lowest out of the ratings assigned to the
counterparties by the international rating agencies (Fitch and S&P), may be summarised as follows:
Guarantee deposits
BBB

2,642

Loss allowances

-

Total guarantee deposits

2,642

Currency and maturity analyses of other financial assets are disclosed in Note 46. Refer to Note 48 for the estimated fair
value of other financial assets. The information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 50.
37) Due to Other Banks

Short-term loans and other payables to other banks
Accrued interest

Total

2020

2019

532,454

520,247

3,264

1,998

535,718

522,245

Currency and maturity analyses of loans to other banks are disclosed in Note 46. Refer to Note 48 for the estimated fair
value of loans to other banks. The information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 50.
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38) Customer Accounts
Liabilities to customers consist of deposits due on demand, savings deposits and term deposits, and other liabilities to
customers. The following table shows a breakdown by customer group:

Current accounts

2020

2019

5,326,527

3,302,606

928,296

533,388

- legal entities

4,398,231

2,769,218

Savings accounts

6,889,148

4,636,469

- private individuals

2,970,981

1,821,101

- legal entities

3,918,167

2,815,368

Term deposit accounts

5,964,795

6,523,552

- private individuals

4,505,607

4,105,300

- legal entities

1,459,188

2,418,252

122,812

79,602

18,303,282

14,542,229

- private individuals

Other liabilities to customers, represented by transit accounts

Total

Savings accounts are interest bearing accounts. Customers can deposit to and withdraw from such accounts at any time.
Interest is accrued over daily outstanding balances on such accounts. Transactions on these accounts are limited to cash
depositing and withdrawals, as well as transfers to/from accounts belonging to the same holder.
As at 31 December 2020, the Bank had sixty six customers (2019: sixty two customers) with total outstanding principal
balances above and equal to EUR 1 million. The aggregate total outstanding balance of these customers was UAH
5,018,928 thousand (2019: UAH 4,571,848 thousand) or 27% (2019: 23%) of total customer accounts.
As at 31 December 2020, included in customer accounts are deposits of UAH 130,523 thousand (2019: UAH 122,760
thousand) held as collateral for irrevocable commitments under guarantees issued, covered letters of credit.
Refer to Note 48 for the estimated fair value of each class of customer accounts. Currency and maturity analyses of
customer accounts are disclosed in Note 46. The information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 50.
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39) Other Borrowed Funds
Liabilities to international financial institutions are one of the sources of financing for the Bank. Loans from international
financial institutions are reported here.
Balance outstanding
Counterparty

Currency

Maturity

ProCredit Holding AG&Co. KGaA
Green for Growth Fund

EUR
EUR

2023
2028

2020
703,567
609,723

2019
535,202
525,111

Green for Growth Fund
European Fund for Southeast Europe

EUR
UAH

2029
2023

344,959
343,271

261,758
-

European Fund for Southeast Europe
European Investment Bank
European Fund for Southeast Europe
European Investment Bank
EBRD
ProCredit Holding AG&Co. KGaA
European Investment Bank

UAH
UAH
UAH
UAH
UAH
UAH
UAH
UAH
UAH

2021
2023
2023
2023
2021
2022
2022
2021
2030

339,093
321,446
321,391
308,017
304,104
301,571
260,357
111,669
50,000

676,947
450,024
431,224
607,507
301,258
390,536
113,535
-

UAH

2021

12,244

12,454

EUR

2021

2,492

3,038

UAH
UAH
EUR
UAH
USD
UAH

2020
2020
2020
2020
2020
2020

-

16,405
166,494
135,122
9,854
95,186
10,272

4,333,904

4,741,927

German-Ukrainian fund (GUF)
German-Ukrainian fund (GUF)
German-Ukrainian fund (GUF)
ProCredit Holding AG&Co. KGaA (accrued interest on
unused amount of credit line)
German-Ukrainian fund (GUF)
European Fund for Southeast Europe
ProCredit Holding AG&Co. KGaA
German-Ukrainian fund (GUF)
ProCredit Holding AG&Co. KGaA
German-Ukrainian fund (GUF)

Total other borrowed funds

The movement of other borrowed funds in 2020 is disclosed below:
Note
Balance at 1 January 2020

Proceeds from other borrowed funds
Repayment of other borrowed funds
The effect of changes in foreign exchange rates
Interest expense
Interest paid
Other non-cash movements
Balance at 31 December 2020

2020
4,741,927

26

716,871
(1,545,311)
447,252
473,984
(500,894)
75
4,333,904
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The movement of other borrowed funds in 2019 is disclosed below:
Note

2019

Balance at 1 January 2019

Proceeds from other borrowed funds
Repayment of other borrowed funds
The effect of changes in foreign exchange rates
Interest expense
Interest paid
Other non-cash movements

5,369,078

657,779
(1,022,768)
(300,060)
549,887
(513,876)
1,887

26

Balance at 31 December 2019

4,741,927

Currency and maturity analyses of other borrowed funds are disclosed in Note 46. The information on related party
balances is disclosed in Note 50. Refer to Note 48 for the estimated fair value of other borrowed funds.

40) Other Financial and Non-financial Liabilities
Note

2020

2019

41

33,273
26,825
19,246
18,385
16,940

22,108
19,220
4,824
4,142
27,083

114,669

77,377

Other non-financial liabilities
Accrual for unused vacation
Other

12,169
15,734

9,032
9,691

Total other non-financial liabilities

27,903

18,723

142,572

96,100

Other financial liabilities and provisions for legal
proceedings
Amount payable and other accruals
Lease liabilities
Derivative financial instruments
Provisions for credit-related commitments
Provisions for legal proceedings

Total other financial liabilities and provisions for legal
proceedings

Total other financial and non-financial liabilities
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The movement of Lease liabilities in 2020 is disclosed below:
Note
Balance at 1 January 2020
Payment of lease liabilities - principal
Lease additions
Other movements
Interest expense
Interest paid

2020
19,220
(9,614)
20,628
(3,423)
2,895
(2,881)

34
26

Balance at 31 December 2020

26,825

The movement of Lease liabilities in 2019 is disclosed below:
Note

2019

Balance at 1 January 2019

27,227

Payment of lease liabilities - principal
Lease additions
Interest expense
Interest paid

(9,185)
1,178
3,913
(3,913)

34
26

Balance at 31 December 2019

19,220

Currency and maturity analyses of other financial liabilities and provisions for legal proceedings are disclosed in Note 46.
The information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 50. Refer to Note 48 for the estimated fair value of other
financial liabilities and provisions for legal proceedings.
41) Derivative Financial Instruments
Foreign exchange derivative financial instruments used in the transactions of the Bank are currency swap contracts
concluded with the other banks individually at over-the-counter market. Derivative financial instruments give either
potentially favourable (and thus should be treated as assets) or potentially adverse (should be treated as liabilities) effect
as a result of fluctuations of exchange rates related to these instruments. Total fair value of derivative financial instruments
may change significantly from time to time.
Currency structure of the gross values of amounts receivable and payable related to currency swap contracts concluded
by the Bank is disclosed in the table below. The table includes contracts with settlement date after the reporting date; all
amounts presented in the long for, i.e. before offset of positions (and payments) by each counterparty. These contracts
are short-term ones. The gross value and fair value of financial derivatives as at 31 December 2020 is disclosed below:
2020
Fair value
Contractual
amount
Foreign exchange derivatives (EUR/USD)
- receivable
- payable
Net amount recognized in the statement of
financial position

Assets

Liabilities

-

(19,246)

671,160
(694,792)
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The gross value and fair value of financial derivatives as at 31 December 2019 is disclosed below:
2019
Fair value
Contractual
amount
Foreign exchange derivatives (CNY/USD)
- receivable
- payable

Assets

Liabilities

779

(4,824)

397,899
(396,330)

Total derivatives with third parties

42) Share Capital
As at 31 December 2020 and as at 31 December 2019 share capital consists of 3,297,003 shares with nominal value of
UAH 476.79 per share and total nominal value of UAH 1,571,978 thousand.
All shares are divided into ordinary and preference shares. Each ordinary share carries one vote. The holders of ordinary
shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at annual and
general meetings of the Bank. The preference shares carry no voting rights except for the cases explicitly provided by
Ukrainian laws, but are granted a preferred right to receive dividends in amount of UAH 150 in total for all these shares as
well as a priority participation in the distribution of assets in the event of liquidation. All shares rank equally with regard to
residual assets, except that preference shareholders participate only to the extent of the face value of the shares adjusted
for any dividends in arrears.
As at 31 December 2020 and as at 31 December 2019, all of the Bank’s outstanding shares were issued and fully paid up.
Ordinary shares
2020
In issue at 1 January
Issued during the year – not registered
In issue at 31 December – fully paid

Preference shares
2019

3,147,392 2,837,494

2020

2019

149,611

149,611

309,898

-

-

3,147,392 3,147,392

149,611

149,611

-

In 2019 the Bank issued and placed additional 309,898 ordinary shares with value of UAH 261,824 thousand. At the same
time, the Bank has repaid subordinated debt for the same amount of UAH 261,824 thousand and these funds were
contributed to increase share capital. This transaction effectively represented conversion of subordinated debt into equity.
In 2020 Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau (KfW) sold ProCredit Bank shares in the amount of 8.1963% of registered share
capital to ProCredit Holding AG, which previously owned 91.8037% of the Bank's registered shares. This sale was part of
the shareholders' strategy regarding the consolidation of ProCredit Holding owning of banks of the ProCredit group.
Following the decision of the sole shareholder as of 4 September 2020, retained earnings received as a result of the Bank’s
performance in 2019 in the amount of UAH 696,225 thousand (or UAH 245.37 per share) were used to pay out the
dividends on the Bank’s registered ordinary shares in full. Unregistered ordinary shares of 309,898 shares were registered
after decision on dividend payments.
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The shareholding structure of the Bank as at 31 December 2020 based on share types, was as follows:

Shareholder

Number of
shares
owned

% in share Nominal value
capital

Share
premium

Total

Ordinary shares (registered)
ProCredit Holding AG&Co. KGaA

3,147,392

95.46

1,500,645

113,845

1,614,490

Total ordinary shares

3,147,392

95.46

1,500,645

113,845

1,614,490

Non-voting preference shares
ProCredit Holding AG&Co. KGaA

149,611

4.54

71,333

-

71,333

Total non-voting capital

149,611

4.54

71,333

-

71,333

3,297,003

100.00

1,571,978

113,845

1,685,823

Total capital
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The shareholding structure of the Bank as at 31 December 2019, based on share types, was as follows:
Number of
shares
owned

% in share
capital*

Nominal
value

Share
premium

Total

2,742,274
95,220

83.17
2.89

1,307,489
45,400

(223)
-

1,307,266
45,400

309,898

9.40

147,756

114,068

261,824

3,147,392

95.46

1,500,645

113,845

1,614,490

Non-voting preference shares
KfW

149,611

4.54

71,333

-

71,333

Total non-voting capital

149,611

4.54

71,333

-

71,333

3,297,003

100.00

1,571,978

113,845

1,685,823

Shareholder

Ordinary shares (registered)
ProCredit Holding AG&Co. KGaA
KfW
Unregistered shares

Total ordinary shares

Total capital

* Number of owned shares and shares in the total capital are presented taking in account unregistered shares issues in
2019, which were registered in 2020.

Reserves within equity
Effective Ukrainian legislation requires that banks form a reserve fund to cover unforeseen losses on all asset items and
off-balance sheet liabilities. The reserve fund must represent not less than 25% of bank's regulatory capital. The reserve
is formed through charges from net profit for the reporting year retained by the Bank after taxes and retained earnings for
previous years.
Charges to the reserve must be no less than 5% of bank’s profit until the reserve reaches 25% of bank’s regulatory capital.
Should bank’s operations pose a threat to interests of depositors and other bank’s creditors, the National Bank of Ukraine
has the right to require increase in the reserve and annual charges thereto. If, as a result of bank's operations, regulatory
capital is reduced to an amount lower than share capital, annual charges to the reserve must be 10% of bank’s net profit
until the reserve reaches 25% of bank’s share capital.
The reserve may only be used to cover the bank’s losses for the reporting year in accordance with the decision of the
Bank’s Board and in accordance with the procedures established by shareholders. Furthermore, effective Ukrainian
legislation envisages no restrictions on distribution of the reserve among bank’s shareholders upon bank’s liquidation after
satisfaction of all creditors' claims.
As at 31 December 2020 the Bank’s reserve funds amount to UAH 1,558,984 thousand (2019: UAH 1,558,984 thousand)
and is presented with retained earnings in equity.
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E. Risk Management
The principles of risk management and the risk strategy of the Bank have not changed compared to the previous year.
On the contrary, during the COVID-19 pandemic the Bank’s conservative risk approach has proven to be highly
appropriate. Like the rest of the world, Ukraine has been severely affected by COVID-19. The government responded
quickly to the COVID-19 outbreak in March 2020. Responses included lockdown measures, dividend restrictions, relaxed
capital and liquidity requirements, fiscal and budgetary stimulus packages etc. As some of the restrictions were lifted,
economic activity returned to broadly normal levels during the summer months, with the exception of some business areas
such as cross-border tourism. However, in the third and fourth quarters, and still at the time of writing, the spread of the
pandemic accelerated again. As a result, the government have imposed new lockdown measures.
Developments in the risk situation are closely monitored. The Bank complied with internal limits as well as all applicable
regulatory requirements during the 2020 financial year. Even in light of the uncertainties resulting from the COVID-19
pandemic, the Bank’s risk profile is considered by the Bank as appropriate and stable.

43) Management of the Overall Bank Risk Profile – Capital Management
Objectives of capital management
With the aim to fulfil stable activity, the Bank should maintain sufficient volume of capital to cover all potential risks the
Bank faces in its activity. This rule is put into operation using a system of different indicators for which target and limit
ratios have been established. The indicators for the Bank include, in addition to regulatory standards determined by the
National Bank of Ukraine, a Basel III capital adequacy calculation and a Tier I leverage ratio and a model of Internal
Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) - Economic Perspective.
The capital management of the Bank has the following objectives:







Ensuring that the Bank is equipped with a sufficient volume and quality of capital at all times to cope with potential
losses arising from different risks even under extreme circumstances.
Full compliance with external capital requirements set by the National Bank of Ukraine.
Meeting the internally defined minimum capital adequacy requirements.
Determination of maximum permissible risk levels (limits).
Management and planning of the risk profile and the available capital.
Enabling the Bank to implement its plans for continued growth while following its business strategy.

Capital management – processes and procedures
The capital management of the Bank is governed by the Policy on Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process.
Regulatory and Basel III capital ratios, the Tier I leverage ratio and the risk bearing capacity are monitored on a monthly
basis by the Bank through the Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO), the General Risk Management Committee and
the ProCredit Group Risk Management Committee.
Capital management – compliance with regulatory and internal capital requirements
Regulatory minimum capital requirements are imposed and monitored by the National Bank of Ukraine. Capital adequacy
is calculated and reported to the General Risk Management Committee of the Bank on a regular basis. These reports
include rolling forecasts to ensure meeting the objectives continuously.
Under the current capital requirements set by the National Bank of Ukraine banks have to maintain a ratio of regulatory
capital to risk weighted assets (“statutory capital ratio”) above a prescribed minimum level of 10% in 2020 and 2019.
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019 the Bank complies with statutory capital ratio (N2) prescribed by the regulatory
requirements of the National Bank of Ukraine.
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Additionally, capital adequacy is monitored by using a uniform capital adequacy calculation method across the ProCredit
group in accordance with the guidelines of the Basel Committee (Basel III). The calculation of the regulatory capital is
based on the Bank’s IFRS financial statements and as at 31 December 2020 comprises:
2020
Tier 1 capital
Tier 2 capital
Total regulatory capital

3,782,989
3,782,989

The regulatory capital as at 31 December 2019 comprises:
2019
Tier 1 capital

3,934,744

Tier 2 capital
Total regulatory capital

3,934,744

44) Management of Individual Risks
The Bank makes a special emphasis on a common understanding of the factors causing the risks and the need for analysis
of possible events/scenarios and their possible negative effects. The goals of risk management include the timely
identification of significant risks, their full understanding and proper description, for example, ensuring that no single
product or service is not offered before until all parties have a full understanding of their nature.
All limits for individual risks within which the Bank positions its own risk strategy are consistent and monitored at the level
of ProCredit Holding AG&Co KGaA. Limited deviations are only allowed for stricter limits (i.e. in cases where such limits
are stipulated by local law, e.g. for currency risk) or if approved by the Group Risk Management Committee.

45) Customer Credit Risk
Credit risk is defined as the risk that losses will be incurred if the party to a transaction cannot fulfil its contractual
obligations at all, not in full or not on time. Within overall credit risk the Bank distinguishes between customer credit risk,
counterparty risk (including issuer risk) and country risk. It is further divided into credit default risk and credit portfolio risk
in order to facilitate focused risk management. Credit risk is the largest risk faced by the Bank and customer credit
exposures account for the largest share of that risk.
The maximum exposure to credit risk is generally reflected in the carrying amounts of financial assets in the statement of
financial position. In addition, as at 31 December 2020 the Bank issued letters of credit and guarantees amounting to UAH
327,819 thousand (31 December 2019: UAH 186,034 thousand) (Note 49).
As at 31 December 2020, the Bank had one hundred and forty four borrowers (2019: one hundred and fifty three borrowers)
with aggregated loan amounts above EUR 1,000 thousand. The total aggregate amount of these loans was UAH
11,509,694 thousand (2019: UAH 9,677,095 thousand) or 57.1% of the gross loan portfolio (2019: 58.4%).
Customer credit risk
The key objectives of credit risk management are to achieve high loan portfolio quality, low risk concentrations within the
loan portfolio and appropriate coverage of credit risks with loan loss provisions.
Credit default risk from customer credit exposures is defined as the risk of losses due to a potential non-fulfilment of the
contractual payment obligations associated with a customer credit exposure.
Principal activity of the Bank is lending to small and medium enterprises contribute to the diversification of the loan
portfolio, and, accordingly, leads to minimize the risk by geographical distribution and economic sectors. For lending
operations, the Bank applies the following principles, among others:

Intensive analysis of the debt and payment capacity of loan clients, including an assessment of future
cashflows;

Careful compliance with the standards on serving business clients combined with group-wide application of
a uniform risk classification approach supports the systematic collection and analysis of risk-relevant data,
thus enabling the identification of risks;
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Carefully documenting credit risk analyses and processes conducted during lending operations, ensuring
that the analyses performed can be understood by knowledgeable third parties;
Rigorously avoiding overindebtedness among loan clients;
Building a long-term relationship with the client, maintaining regular contact and documenting the
development of the exposure within the regular monitoring reports;
Strictly monitoring the repayment of credit exposures;
Applying closely customer-oriented, intensified loan management in the event of arrears;
Collecting collateral in the event of insolvency.

The information collected from the clients range from audited financial statements to management statements and other
informal data provided by the client. The key criteria for credit exposure decision are primarily based on the financial
position of the client (the liquid funds, profitability ratios and other indicators of creditworthiness of the client) and in a less
degree on the collateral requirements.
All credit decisions in the Bank are taken by a credit committee. Its members have approval limits that reflect their expertise
and experience. All decisions on medium credit exposures are taken by credit committees at the banks’ head offices. If the
exposures are particularly significant for the Bank on account of their size, the decision is taken by the Supervisory Board
of the Bank, usually following a positive vote issued by the responsible Group Credit Risk Management team at ProCredit
Holding.
The most important basis for decision-making within the credit committee is the proposal for the financing and collateral
structure, which is tailored to the customer's needs and dependent on his risk profile. In this context, the following general
principles apply: the lower the loan amount, the more detailed the documentation provided by the client, the shorter the
loan period, the longer the client’s history with the bank, and the higher the client’s account turnover with the bank, then
the lower the collateral requirements will be. As a general rule, credit exposures with a higher risk profile are covered with
solid collateral, mostly through mortgages.
The early detection of increases in credit risk at the borrower level is incorporated into all lending-related processes,
resulting in prompt identification and timely assessment of the financial difficulties faced by clients.
The Bank implemented indicators for the early identification of risks in accordance with the ProCredit Group and local
regulatory requirements, based on quantitative and qualitative risk features. These include, but are not limited to, declining
account turnover or volume, high usage of granted credit lines and overdrafts over a longer period of time, and arrears.
Regular recording and analysis of these early warning indicators helps to manage the performing portfolio, identify potential
default risks at an early stage and take the required measures to avoid a significant increase in credit risk. Reports on the
affected portfolio are regularly given to the branch manager, the Bank’s head office and in aggregated form to ProCredit
Holding.
Events which could have an impact on a significant part of the loan portfolio (common risk factors) are analysed and
discussed at group and bank level. This can lead to the imposition of limits on risk exposures towards certain groups of
clients, e.g. in specific sectors of the economy or geographical regions.
The most significant new factor influencing credit risk in 2020 was the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic. The Bank’s
activities have therefore also focused on assessing the effects of the pandemic on the credit portfolio and on a
corresponding risk-mitigation strategy.
Within the framework of the international and national aid measures which have been enacted, the Bank has adopted a
conservative approach. Moratoria (moratoria or grace period) is deemed only as a temporary measure for short-term
liquidity problems. Moratorium was typically issued for a period of three months (for all economic sectors) to six months
(for the most affected sectors). The share of the loan portfolio under moratorium peaked in May 2020. The share declined
steadily thereafter, falling to below 1% at the end of the year. In line with EBA’s interpretations, applying these moratoria
did not automatically lead to forbearance measures or risk classification downgrades. However, where necessary,
restructuring measures were taken during 2020 to prevent a possible default by the customer.
In a further step, the Bank analysed and categorised the entire loan portfolio. Account was taken for both the expected
impact of the pandemic on the economic sector/sub-sector and the company’s financial performance before the COVID19 pandemic. This facilitated prioritisation in the monitoring of individual exposures. The final immediate response to the
pandemic outbreak was a revised assessment process for new loan disbursements and subsequent performance
monitoring.
On the basis of asset quality indicators, the loan portfolio is divided into the categories: performing, underperforming and
defaulted. Exposures are assigned to these categories based on an exposure being past due, a risk classification system
and other risk characteristics; these include the initiation of bankruptcy proceedings or similar court procedures,
restructurings or collateral liquidations by other banks, as well as other factors indicating a significant deterioration of the
economic situation of the client. The indicators allow for a clear overview of the quality of the Bank’s portfolio and represent
one of the most important tools for the credit risk management process.
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The performing loan portfolio shows no signs of a potential risk increase. Although some exposures show
early warning signals, these may not necessarily result in a risk increase being determined.
The underperforming loan portfolio comprises exposures showing increased credit risk. This can be caused
by temporary payment difficulties (30-90 days), restructuring or other factors. Nevertheless, the Bank still
assesses full repayment of the exposure to be possible, e.g. after restructuring.
The defaulted loan portfolio comprises all exposures in default, most of which have shown lasting payment
difficulties (over 90 days) indications. These include, among other factors, when the borrower is highly
unlikely to meet his loan obligations to the banking group in full or when insolvency proceedings have been
initiated. Further details are provided below.

The indicators and the associated internal processes have been defined in line with the requirements set by international
regulatory authorities and are continuously reviewed and adjusted accordingly. For example, as of 31 December 2020
adjustments were made regarding the counting of days past due as a criterion for determining default and the indicators
for unlikelihood of settling liabilities.
Once a higher risk of default is detected for a credit exposure, it is placed under intensified management. This centres
around close communication with the client, identification of the source of higher credit default risk and close monitoring of
their business activities. Decisions on measures to reduce the credit default risk are taken by the authorised decisionmaking bodies. In addition, specialised recovery officers may be called in to support the intensified management of the
credit exposure.
One of the first steps in managing such loans is to determine the economic and financial situation of the client, as this is
the most important basis for decisions on whether or not the exposure can be restructured. The aim is to take such
decisions at an early stage, while the chances of stabilisation are high and before the exposure enters an advanced phase
of payment delay.
The table below presents the customer loan exposures by loan category which were restructured as at 31 December 2020
and 31 December 2019:
2020
2019
Restructured
Restructured
Restructured Restructured
loans
loans in % of
loans loans in % of
loan portfolio
loan portfolio
Stage 2
Stage 3 and POCI

Total

671,567
386,130

3.3%
1.9%

48,015
389,508

0.3%
2.4%

1,057,697

5.2%

437,523

2.7%

When a credit exposure is classified as defaulted, it is passed on to officers responsible for customer service. These officers
are supported by legal department specialists.
The structure of the loan portfolio is regularly reviewed by the Gerenal Risk Committee in order to identify potential events
which could have an impact on large areas of the loan portfolio (common risk factors) and, if necessary, limit the exposure
towards certain types of borrowers (e.g. by industry, by regions, by type of loan).
The Bank follows a guideline that limits concentration of risk in its loan portfolio by ensuring that large credit exposures
(those exceeding 10% of regulatory capital) require an approval by the Group Risk Management Committee. No single
large credit exposure may exceed 25% of the Bank’s regulatory capital.
Loss allowances
The expected credit loss (ECL) model pursuant to IFRS 9 is the central element of the approach to quantifying loss
allowances for both on- and off-balance sheet financial instruments and is continually optimised. The calculated loss
allowances are determined based on the expected credit losses for several future default scenarios. This represents the
combined sum of the probability-weighted results from the scenarios. ECL estimates are based on reliable information
about past events, current conditions and projections of future economic conditions. A detailed description of the model
specifications is provided below.
Three-stage approach
Loans and advances to customers are broken down into the three stages described below, based on the development of
credit risk since initial recognition. A specific methodology is applied for each stage in order to determine impairment.
During the term of an exposure, movement is possible between the stages.
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Stage 1 comprises exposures for which credit risk has not significantly increased since initial recognition and for which
there is thus no indication of a trigger for allocation to Stage 2 or Stage 3. Generally, all exposures are allocated to Stage
1 upon initial recognition, with the exception of those categorised as POCI (Purchased or Originated Credit Impaired). For
Stage1 exposures, the expected credit losses arising from possible default events within the 12 months following the
reporting date are recognised as expenses. For exposures with a remaining term of less than 12 months, the shorter
contractual maturity is applied.
Stage 2 comprises exposures for which credit risk has significantly increased since initial recognition, but for which there
are no objective indications of impairment. Loss allowances are established in an amount equivalent to the expected credit
losses over the entire remaining term of the loan.
Stage 3 includes defaulted financial instruments, i.e. as of the reporting date, there are both a significant increase in credit
risk and objective indications of impairment. The respective calculation of loss allowances is performed based on the
expected credit losses over the entire remaining maturity considering 100% probability of default.

Credit risk classifications
The Bank allocates each small and medium credit exposure to a credit risk category based on a variety of data that is
considered by the Bank to be predictive of the risk of default and applying experienced credit judgement. Credit risk
classifications are defined using qualitative and quantitative factors that are indicative of risk of default. These factors vary
depending on the nature of the exposure and the type of borrower. The quantitative factors in the risk classification system
are the business client enterprise’s operating performance, balance sheet strength, and cash flow quality. Analysis of the
qualitative factors is subdivided into the following areas: people associated with the business client (management, key
staff, owners); the professionalism of the organisation; the quality of the documentation provided and external factors and
their potential impact on the business client’s activity and any warning signals, i.e. information which is indicative of
payment difficulties on the client’s part in the recent past and which is also available to the bank in a measurable and
quantifiable form. In result of the assessment the client can be assigned to one of eight risk classifications.
Each small and medium exposure is allocated to a risk classification at initial recognition based on available information
about the borrower. It supports the decision-making process by supplementing thorough assessment of the
creditworthiness of the client. Exposures are subject to ongoing monitoring, which may result in an exposure being moved
to a different credit risk category.
The risk category of the credit exposure is connected with the Bank’s risk provisioning system. All credit exposures in client
risk category 8 are considered to be impaired and treated as problem credit exposures. All credit exposures classified in
client risk categories 6 and 7 are treated under intensified management.

Significant increase in credit risk (SICR)
When determining whether or not a significant increase in credit risk has occurred, the Bank considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort, both quantitative and qualitative
information derived from the Bank’s experience is used. Assessment of significance increase in credit risk is performed on
a contract level.
The quantitative test for SICR consists of a comparison between the expected PD over the remaining lifetime as of the
reporting date and the expected PD over the corresponding time period at initial recognition. A significant increase in credit
risk is deemed to exist if the difference between the PDs exceeds a certain limit. In this case, the respective financial
instrument is transferred from Stage 1 to Stage 2. Conversely, a transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 is possible once the
associated credit risk has decreased significantly.
In addition, qualitative criteria are used for SICR decisions. A transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 is made when one of the
following criteria is met:
- Contractual payments are past due by more than 30 days but not more than 90 days.
- Classification of the customer as “restructured” pursuant to internal policies (adjustment of contractually agreed
conditions).
- The customer is assigned to a risk class defined as insufficient in the risk classification system.
Impaired credit exposures
A credit exposure is considered impaired and is thus transferred to Stage 3 if one of the following criteria applies at the
reporting date:
- Contractual payments are more than 90 days past due.
- Indications of significant financial difficulties of the debtor.
- Loan repayment is not possible without the realisation of collateral.
- Initiation of bankruptcy proceedings for the customer.
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- Legal proceedings against the customer that endanger the existence of the business or the repayment capacity of the
customer.
- Allegations of fraud against the customer.
Definition of default
The Bank considers an exposure to be impaired if at least one of the above criteria is met and the expected cash flows
have been negatively impacted to such an extent that full repayment of the receivable can no longer be assumed.
When determining provisions in Stage 3, a distinction is drawn between individually significant and individually insignificant
credit exposures; the threshold is EUR 150,000. For significant exposures with indications of impairment, an individual
assessment is performed to determine provisioning, taking account for the expected inflows, including collateral liquidation.
For individually insignificant exposures, loss allowances are determined using parameters for the collective assessment of
credit risk.
Returning an exposure from Stage 3 to a lower stage is possible if the customer can settle outstanding debts in full without
recourse to collateral realisation. No migration between stages is possible for POCI exposures.
As part of the exposures allocated to Stage 3, the Bank has introduced special treatment of POCI (Purchased or Originated
Credit Impaired) exposures in accordance with IFRS 9 requirements concerning modified financial assets. Within business
model, the acquisition of on initial recognition credit-impaired assets is not permitted. Accordingly, POCI exposures can
only arise in the course of a new negotiation through significant modification of the contractually agreed cash flows. For
POCI exposures, no allowances for impairment are made at the time of initial recognition. In subsequent periods, all
changes with regard to the expected losses over the remaining maturity period (lifetime ECL) are recognised as an expense
in the profit or loss and reported accordingly as loss allowances for these exposures.
The process for returning to the performing portfolio and thus to stage 1 has two steps. Once the economic situation of the
borrower has improved (usually through a successful restructuring), such that it can fulfil his payment obligations in full and
without recourse to collateral and there are no indications of impairment, there is a one-year healing period before the
exposure can be classified under Stage 2. During the subsequent probationary period, which lasts two years, the exposure
will continue to be classified as “restructured” and thus still recognised as Stage 2. Upon compliance with various criteria
– e.g. no past-due payments; repayment of a significant portion of the obligation, including deferral agreements; and no
indications of impairment – the exposure can be classified as performing again under Stage 1 at the end of the probationary
period.
The risk classification system for small and medium credit exposures is an instrument supporting the credit assessment
for a proposed credit exposure and the on-going assessment of the risk associated with outstanding credit exposures. It
supports the decision-making process by supplementing thorough assessment of the creditworthiness of all small and
medium credit exposures. Risk classifications are mandatory for every financial analysis that is carried out for new credit
exposures, for annual reviews and in the context of ad hoc measurements in response to extraordinary risk events.
The Bank’s client risk classification is based on qualitative and quantitative criteria for the company, divided into eight
areas. In each area, the client is assigned to one of eight risk categories. The quantitative factors in the risk classification
system are the business client enterprise’s operating performance, balance sheet strength, and cash flow quality. Analysis
of the qualitative factors is subdivided into the following areas: people associated with the business client (management,
key staff, owners); the professionalism of the organisation; the quality of the documentation provided and external factors
and their potential impact on the business client’s activity and any warning signals, i.e. information which is indicative of
payment difficulties on the client’s part in the recent past and which is also available to the bank in a measurable and
quantifiable form.
The following table provides an overview of the respective gross and net exposure amounts and allowances for expected
credit losses on loans and advances to customers, broken down by stages and credit risk grades as at 31 December
2020.
Risk
Risk class
Risk
Not
Risk class 1-3
Total
class 4-5
6-7
class 8 classified
Stage 1
Stage 2
Stage 3
POCI
Gross carrying amount
Allowance for expected
credit losses
Net outstanding amount

9,145,391
9,145,391

9,103,550
505,681
9,609,231

778,371
778,371

405,592
36,296
441,888

154,257
5,719
17,680
503
178,159

18,403,198
1,289,771
423,272
36,799
20,153,040

(116,914)
9,028,477

(211,381)
9,397,850

(143,779)
634,592

(165,945)
275,943

(16,305)
161,854

(654,324)
19,498,716
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Not classified exposures – exposures below EUR 50,000 (calculated based on on-balance and off-balance sheet
exposures), which are not eligible for small and medium categorisation. Non-classified exposures do not include loans and
advances to customers in Stage 3 and POCI, which were assigned with a risk class 8, but whose exposure has decreased
below EUR 50,000 as at 31 December 2020.
The following table provides an overview of the respective gross and net exposure amounts and allowances for expected
credit losses on loans and advances to customers, broken down by stages and credit risk grades as at 31 December
2019.
Risk
Risk
Risk
Risk
Not
Total
class 4-5
class 6-7
class 8 classified
class 1-3
Stage 1
Stage 2
Stage 3
POCI
Gross carrying amount
Allowance for expected credit
losses
Net outstanding amount

9,298,866
9,298,866

6,190,544
219,490
6,410,034

157,618
157,618

556,558
29,084
585,642

83,602
7,160
18,435
741
109,938

15,573,012
384,268
574,993
29,825
16,562,098

(49,070)
9,249,796

(68,318)
6,341,716

(8,558)
149,060

(299,019)
286,623

(14,251)
95,687

(439,216)
16,122,882

Not classified exposures – exposures below EUR 50,000 (calculated based on on-balance and off-balance sheet
exposures), which are not eligible for small and medium categorisation. Non-classified exposures do not include loans and
advances to customers in Stage 3 and POCI, which were assigned with a risk class 8, but whose exposure has decreased
below EUR 50,000 as at 31 December 2019.
The following table provides an overview of the credit-related commitments, broken down by stages and credit risk grades
as at 31 December 2020.
Risk class
Risk class
Not
Risk class 4-5
Total
1-3
6-7 classified
Payment guarantees - Stage 1
Payment guarantees - Stage 2
Performance guarantees – Stage 1
Import letters of credit – Stage 1

211,050
239
196

111,619
1,263
454

424
-

2,321
253
-

324,990
424
1,755
650

Total

211,485

113,336

424

2,574

327,819

The following table provides an overview of the credit-related commitments, broken down by stages and credit risk grades
as at 31 December 2019.
Risk class 1-3

Risk class 4-5

Not classified

Total

Payment guarantees - Stage 1
Performance guarantees – Stage 1
Import letters of credit – Stage 1

115,217
2,080
407

66,943
401
-

870
116
-

183,030
2,597
407

Total

117,704

67,344

986

186,034

The riskiness of a client is determined using a range of indicators, including the risk classification, restructuring status and
fulfilment of contractual payment obligations. Changes in these indicators reflect an increase or decrease in the credit risk
associated with a client. Furthermore, these indicators are used to identify defaulted clients.
In general, exposures are only written off when no further recoveries are expected. The direct and indirect costs of
managing credit exposures that have not been written off must also be in proportion to the size of the outstanding exposure.
Bearing these points in mind, the Bank generally write off insignificant credit exposures (<EUR 30,000) earlier than
significant ones. Decisions to write off an exposure do not automatically apply to the entire client relationship. The Bank
may write off parts of a credit exposure (e.g. through a restructuring decision), in order to increase the likelihood of total
repayment of the client’s remaining debt. More details on policy of writing off loan exposures are provided in Note 9(v).
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When determining loss allowances a distinction is drawn between individually significant and individually insignificant credit
exposures; the threshold is EUR 150,000. For significant exposures with indications of impairment, an individual
assessment is performed to determine allowances, taking account for the expected inflows, including collateral liquidation.
Here, the Bank places great emphasis on a careful approach to estimating costs and expected earnings and also with
respect to assumptions about the timeframe for liquidation. Regardless of the amount of loss allowance, a loan is classified
as impaired as soon as the expected cash flows take account for liquidation of collateral.
The following table provides an overview of the respective gross and net exposure amounts and allowances for expected
credit losses on loans and advances to customers, broken down by stages and days past due as at 31 December 2020.

Stage 1
0 days
1 to 30 days
Stage 2
0 days
1 to 30 days
31 to 90 days
Stage 3
0 days
1 to 30 days
31 to 90 days
91 to 365 days
> 365 days

Total gross outstanding
amount

Allowance for
expected credit
losses

Net outstanding
amount

18,403,198

(315,988)
(314,778)

18,087,210
18,034,062

(1,210)

53,148
1,130,620

18,348,840
54,358
1,289,771
1,191,689
78,877
19,205
423,272
255,920
11,107
44,450
29,643
82,152

(159,151)
(152,292)
(4,083)
(2,776)
(175,023)
(86,682)

1,039,397
74,794
16,429
248,249
169,238

(3,617)
(17,643)
(19,766)
(47,315)

7,490
26,807
9,877
34,837

POCI

36,799

0 days
31 to 90 days
91 to 365 days
> 365 days
Total

11,381
25,394
3
21

(4,162)
(1,845)
(2,293)
(3)
(21)

32,637
9,536
23,101
-

20,153,040

(654,324)

19,498,716

________________________________________________________________________________________________
44

JSC “ProCredit Bank”
Notes to the Financial Statements – 31 December 2020
(in thousands of Ukrainian Hryvnia, unless otherwise stated)
The following table provides an overview of the respective gross and net exposure amounts and allowances for expected
credit losses on loans and advances to customers, broken down by stages and days past due as at 31 December 2019.
Total gross outstanding
amount

Allowance for
expected credit
losses

Net outstanding
amount

15,573,012

(112,544)
(98,894)

15,460,468
13,808,471

(13,650)

1,651,997
370,429

Stage 1
0 days
1 to 30 days
Stage 2
0 days
1 to 30 days
31 to 90 days
Stage 3
0 days
1 to 30 days
31 to 90 days
91 to 365 days
> 365 days
POCI

13,907,365
1,665,647
384,268
344,766
36,727
2,775
574,993
306,210
38,437
5,149

(13,839)
(11,127)
(2,405)
(307)
(308,204)
(110,548)

333,639
34,322
2,468
266,789
195,662

(15,154)
(3,113)

23,283
2,036

164,616
60,581

(127,632)
(51,757)

36,984
8,824

29,825

0 days
1 to 30 days

26,201
1,846

(4,629)
(2,375)
(476)

25,196
23,826
1,370

91 to 365 days
> 365 days
Total

41
1,737

(41)
(1,737)

-

16,562,098

(439,216)

16,122,882

As at 31 December 2020 Stage 3 and POCI includes UAH 11,275 thousand of non-restructured loans with risk class of 8
and zero days past due (31 December 2019: UAH 39,612 thousand).
Credit risk assessment for other financial assets
For other financial assets, the same definitions for “past due” and “non-performing” apply in principle as for customer credit
risk. Counterparty risk is managed according to the principle that liquidity must be placed securely. Since the outbreak of
the COVID-19 pandemic, the Bank has closely monitored the credit quality of its counterparties. To this end, the Bank has
closely followed rating actions by rating agencies, news coverage, analysis reports and assessments by the Bank’s risk
unit, among other information. Due to the careful selection of the counterparties, none of positions shown were past due
or showed any signs of impairment as of 31 December 2020. Despite pandemic events, the counterparty and issuer risk
remained stable.
The methodology for measurement of credit risk and thus expected credit losses for other financial assets such as
investment securities, central bank exposures, loans to banks and account receivables corresponds to IFRS 9 and is based
on external ratings. Therefore, as first step of the model each counterparty (e.g. financial institution, sovereigns) needs to
be assigned a rating. For financial institutions and sovereigns, the Issuer Default Rating (IDR) is used, which is a forwardlooking assessment of the capacity and willingness to honour debt obligations to private sector creditors in full and on time
and thereby captures default risk.
Credit exposures are provisioned in accordance with expected losses. In this case, expected losses are calculated as the
product of the default probability (PD), the loss given default (LGD), and the exposure at default (EAD). Here, the EAD
(exposure at default) is determined by the total outstanding counterparty exposures reflected at the reporting period, the
external PDs and LGDs are used. The PDs corresponds to the default probability.
For counterparties (financial institutions, sovereigns) and countries, rating information provided by Fitch is used for defining
PD. As empirical default rates are not available for all rating classes, PDs for classes without empirical information are
linearly interpolated from the next available empirical rates above or below the considered class. Every rating assigned to
a financial institution, sovereign or country is attributed a PD. The respective PDs published in the Fitch Default Study is
applied. Fitch’s PDs are historical default averages linked to ratings and they represent the expected probability of defaults.
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LGDs are not linked to the PD of an entity, but to the country (country of risk) that the counterparty is located in. Different
LGDs are used for financial institutions and sovereigns/countries.

Description and the financial effect of collateral held as security and of other credit enhancements
The general creditworthiness of customer tends to be the most relevant indicator of credit quality of a loan extended to it.
However, collateral provides additional security and the Bank generally requests that borrowers provide it. Depending on
the risk profile and the term of the exposure, loans may also be issued without being fully collateralised. As a general rule,
credit exposures with a higher risk profile are covered with solid collateral, mostly through mortgages.
The valuation of immovable collateral is conducted on the basis of opinions prepared by external, independent experts. In
order to ensure that a reduction in the value of the collateral is detected at an early stage and appropriate measures can
be taken, plausibility checks of collateral value are a fixed component of the annual review process of Bank’s borrowers.
The appraisals must be updated at regular intervals, with plausibility checks being carried out by specialised bank staff.
Based on the Bank’s collateralisation requirements, securing loans with mortgages, cash and financial guarantees are
among the most important instruments for limiting credit risk.
Gross carrying amount of loans and advances to customers by types of collateral as at 31 December 2020 and 31
December 2019 is presented as follows:
Cash collateral
Financial guarantees
Mortgage
Other (mainly equipment and vehicles)
Non-collateralised
Total

2020

2019

307,469
1,637,592
9,985,359
7,585,310
637,310
20,153,040

297,497
1,411,003
7,582,414
6,960,624
310,560
16,562,098

At 31 December 2020, the net carrying amount of collaterised loans to customers that are credit-impaired (Stage 3 and
POCI) amounts to UAH 280,886 thousand (2019: UAH 291,985 thousand) and the value of related collateral (cut to the
net carrying amount of the loan) held in order to mitigate potential losses against those loans amounts to UAH 280,285
thousand (2019: UAH 290,504 thousand).
The table below represent financial instruments collateralised by financial guarantees or cash collateral as at 31 December,
2020:
Collateral amount of financial guarantees
Total gross outstanding
and cash collateral, cut to the gross
amount
carrying amount of loans
Loans to customers
Credit-related commitments
Total

3,073,295
167,422
3,240,717

1,945,061
122,267
2,067,328

The table below represent financial instruments collateralised by financial guarantees or cash collateral as at 31 December,
2019:
Collateral amount of financial guarantees
Total gross outstanding
and cash collateral, cut to the gross
amount
carrying amount of loans
Loans to customers
Credit-related commitments
Total

2,607,433
90,140
2,697,573

1,708,500
87,966
1,796,466
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Financial assets subject to offsetting as at 31 December 2020 are presented as follows:
Types of financial
assets/liabilities

Loans and
advances to
customers
Total financial
assets
Customer
accounts
Total financial
liabilities

Gross amounts
of recognised
financial
asset/liability

Gross amount
of recognised
financial
liability/asset
offset in the
statement of
financial
position

549,655

Net amount
of financial
assets/
liabilities
presented in
the
statement of
financial
position

Related amounts not offset
in the statement of financial
position

Financial
instruments

Cash
collateral
received

Net
amount

549,655

-

(307,469)

242,186

549,655

-

(307,469)

242,186

(398,920)

307,469

-

(91,451)

(398,920)

307,469

-

(91,451)

549,655

-

(398,920)

-

(398,920)

-

The table below represent financial assets subject to offsetting as at 31 December 2019:
Types of financial
assets/liabilities

Loans and
advances to
customers
Total financial
assets
Customer
accounts
Total financial
liabilities

Gross amounts
of recognised
financial
asset/liability

Gross amount
of recognised
financial
liability/asset
offset in the
statement of
financial
position

Net amount
of financial
assets/
liabilities
presented in
the
statement of
financial
position

Related amounts not offset
in the statement of financial
position

Financial
instruments

Cash
collateral
received

Net
amount

337,692

-

337,692

-

(297,497)

40,195

337,692

-

337,692

-

(297,497)

40,195

(386,683)

-

(386,683)

297,497

-

(89,186)

(386,683)

-

(386,683)

297,497

-

(89,186)

The recoverability of loans which are neither past due nor impaired primarily depends on the creditworthiness of borrowers
rather than the value of collateral, and the Bank does not necessarily update the valuation of collateral as at each reporting
date.
The Bank’s policy on the treatment of repossessed property requires that all pledges obtained due to customer defaults
be sold to third parties in order to avoid any conflict of interest arising from the below-market valuation of collateral. In
addition, repossessed property is sold at the highest possible price, typically via public auction, and any remaining balance
after the payment of principal, interest and penalty are credited to the customer’s account. Most repossessed property
consists of land and buildings (Refer to Note 36).
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46) Financial Risks
Foreign currency risk
Currency risk is a potential risk to earnings and capital of the Bank arising from adverse changes in exchange rates of
foreign currencies.
The key risk indicator that captures the balance sheet discrepancy for each currency is the open currency position (OCP).
During 2020, the local currency depreciated by 31.5% to EUR, that was the significant FX shock. However, since the bank
maintain its “closed-positions” policy, any fluctuations on the foreign currency markets are potentially of minor effect on
the Bank’s financial results. OCP limits were in line with FX Risk Management requirements.
The following table shows the distribution of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities across its material operating foreign
currencies (USD and EUR) as at 31 December 2020:
EUR

USD

Other
currencies

32,972
859,451

49,876
-

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents - cash on hand
Cash and cash equivalents - correspondent accounts and overnights
Loans and advances to customers
Investment securities
Other financial assets

4,980,697
573
337

53,307
2,971,941
2,555,236
262

Total assets

5,874,030

5,580,746

49,876

-

671,160

-

Liabilities
Due to other banks
Customer accounts
Other borrowed funds
Other financial liabilities and provisions for legal proceedings

526,955
2,953,023
1,659,719
24,767

8,763
6,202,020
22,423

48,560
-

Total liabilities

5,164,464

6,233,206

48,560

694,792

-

-

14,774

18,700

1,316

189,412

-

196

Open forward position

Open forward position

Net balance sheet position

Irrevocable credit related commitments

Possible changes in exchange rates are not expected to have material impact on net profit and equity.
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The following table shows the distribution of the Bank’s assets and liabilities across its material operating foreign
currencies (USD and EUR) as at 31 December 2019:
EUR

USD

Other
currencies

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents - cash on hand
Cash and cash equivalents - correspondent accounts and overnights
Loans and advances to customers
Investment securities
Other financial assets

21,901
366,534
3,851,868
436
4,290

47,991
1,803,495
2,008,217
2,811

25,152
-

Total assets

4,245,029

3,862,514

25,152

-

397,899

-

Liabilities
Due to other banks
Customer accounts
Other borrowed funds
Other financial liabilities and provisions for legal proceedings

519,173
1,765,836
1,465,683
7,110

3,114
4,170,363
95,186
249

25,045
-

Total liabilities

3,757,802

4,268,912

25,045

396,330

-

-

90,897

(8,499)

107

151,556

118

407

Open forward position

Open forward position

Net balance sheet position

Irrevocable credit related commitments

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk specifies the risk that movements in market interest rates will adversely affect the bank’s economic value
and its interest earnings and eventually capital. There are three categories from which interest rate risk occurs, i.e.
repricing risk (yield curve risk), basis risk and option risk.
The repricing risk arises from a timing mismatch in the maturity of assets and liabilities. The change may be parallel or
non-parallel. The parallel repricing risk arises when interest rates move identically at all tenors (e.g. 200 basis points). The
non-parallel change relative to the same instrument but at different tenors is called yield curve risk and the consequence
is the change of the yield curve’s slope and shape. These are the main sources of interest rate risk in the bank. The yield
curve (the structure of interest rates of different maturities) can shift and change shape, which can impact the bank’s
income statement in the short or longer term if the bank has repricing gaps. Therefore, closing the repricing gaps minimizes
the risk of losses from interest rates movements.
Basis risk occurs when there is a mismatch between the reference (basis) interest rates received on assets and the
reference rate of the interest paid on liabilities and the movements in the two reference rates are not correlated (reference
rate basis risk). Basis risk also occurs when the reference rate is the same but different tenors move in different directions
(tenor basis risk).
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Option risk is the risk arising from automatic or behavioural price movements in instruments due to changes in interest
rate. Automatic option risk occurs from contracts with embedded options within the contract terms e.g. a floored rate loan.
Behavioural option risk arises when contracts allow different behaviour from clients as a response to changes in interest
rates (e.g. early withdrawal of term deposits (TDAs) or early repayment of loans). The exercise of the option is hence not
only constrained to interest rates but to the client behavior.
The Bank’s approach to measuring and managing interest rate risk is guided by the Interest Rate Risk Policy. Interest rate
risk is regularly discussed by the Bank’s Assets and Liabilities Committee and General Risk Management Committee. The
indicators are also reported to the Group Risk Management Committee on a quarterly basis.
In order to limit the interest rate risk, the Bank aims to align the maturities of those balance sheet items which generate
interest earnings and interest expenses.
The table below shows weighted average effective interest rates of the Bank’s main financial assets and liabilities at 31
December 2020 and 2019:
2020
2019
Financial instruments
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Due from other Banks
Loans and advances to customers
LIABILITIES
Due to other banks
Customer accounts – current and saving
accounts
Customer accounts – term deposits
Other borrowed funds

UAH

EUR

USD

UAH

EUR

USD

6%
12%

(1%)
5%

0%
5%

13%
12%
18%

6%

2%
6%

-

2%

-

-

2%

-

3%

0%

0%

7%

0%

1%

11%
13%

2%
3%

2%
-

16%
15%

3%
3%

4%
5%

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant,
of the Bank’s statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
The sensitivity of net interest income is the effect of the maximum possible changes in interest rates on profit before tax
for one year, based on the variable and fixed rate non-trading financial assets and financial liabilities held at
31 December 2020 and 2019. The amount of historical shock to be applied is taken with adjustments to the limitations of
changes of interest rates specified in the contracts, i.e. minimum interest rate in the loan contracts. Currently, typical loan
contracts stipulate the minimum interest rate for disbursements in the local and foreign currency. The maximum possible
changes in the interest rate represent the possible shock determined as historical maximum change (increase or decrease)
in the interest rate for the year with the confidence interval of 99%. The historical values’ sampling period is 7 years from
the reporting date. The effect on equity does not differ from effect on profit or loss (before tax).
Currency

Increase in % as at
31 December 2020

UAH

9.50% for internal and
7.00% for external
interest rate shocks

200,324

4.00% for internal and
7.00%
for
external
interest rate shocks

299,064

2%
2%

27,651
62,432

2%
2%

14,622
30,834

Currency

Decrease in % as at
31 December 2020

Sensitivity of net
interest income in
2020

Decrease in % as at 31
December 2019

Sensitivity of net
interest income in
2020

UAH

-7.00% for internal and
-6.00% for external
interest rate shocks

(63,951)

-4.00% for internal and 7.00%
for
external
interest rate shocks

(290,514)

EUR
USD

-2%
-2%

(27,651)
(62,432)

-2%
-2%

(14,622)
(30,834)

EUR
USD

Sensitivity of net
interest income in
2021

Increase in % as at 31
December 2019

Sensitivity of net
interest income in
2020
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During 2020, the NBU significantly decreased the Key Policy Rate, that put additional pressure on market with aim to
motivate banking sector to decrease cost of attracted customer funds and respectively loans. As of end of the year, the
NBU Key Policy Rate was at value of 6%, which is a historical minimum.
In order to maintain a sufficient level of margin and interest earnings, the Bank consistently reduced interest rates on both
assets (loans to customers) and the liabilities (customer deposits).
The Bank has excessive short-term liquidity in local currency and invest it into 1-week deposit certificates of the National
Bank of Ukraine. This instrument is suitable for keeping excessive short-term liquidity in local currency. However, deposit
certificates of the NBU go to the first time bucket of the model, and thus have significant effect on the 12-Months Interest
Earnings by increasing further interest sensitive assets because model takes into consideration impact of the interest rate
shock on this balance sheet position during the following 12 months.
In order to decrease negative impact from the downward interest rate shock the Bank implemented interest rate floor which
is the minimum possible interest rate for the loan contract. This impacts sensitivity on financial instruments.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk (risk of not being liquid) is the risk that the Bank will no longer be able to meet its current and future payment
obligations in full, or in a timely manner. The Bank applies its own system of liquidity management established in
accordance with the regulatory requirements. Highly liquid assets and development of customers’ funds base are
monitored on a daily basis. The Bank has developed a clear response to potential outflows including both price-based
measures (managing interest rates and terms of deposits), plans to minimize the outflow by reducing (suspending) lending
and raising funds from the parent company in case of emergency.
The Bank's business model is based on lending large number of small and medium enterprises (meaning high
diversification of the loan portfolio). This approach ensures a constant source of liquid resources for the repayment of the
loan portfolio, especially given the absence of significant concentrations of liquidity.
On the other hand, the loan portfolio is funded from two main sources: mainly customer funds and loans from international
financial organizations are used to obtain funds in local and foreign currencies.
The Bank’s General Risk Management Committee determines the liquidity strategy of the Bank and sets the liquidity risk
limits. ALCO is a central collegial body in liquidity management. The treasury unit manages the Bank’s liquidity on a daily
basis and is responsible for the execution of the ALCO’s decisions. Compliance with strategies, policies and limits are
constantly monitored by the risk management unit.
The standards applied by the Bank in the management of liquidity are based on regulatory requirements, Group liquidity
risk management policy and the Group treasury policy. Any violation of limits and all exceptions to these policies are
approved by the Supervisory Board and Group Risk Management Committee.
Treasury manages liquidity on a daily level using an approach based on cash flow analysis. This method was designed
to provide a realistic picture of the future liquidity situation. It includes assumptions about deposit and loan developments
and helps to forecast liquidity risk indicators.
The key tools for measuring liquidity risks is a forward-looking liquidity gap analysis, which shows the contractual maturity
structure of the assets and liabilities and estimates future funding needs based on certain assumptions. Starting with the
estimation of the future liquidity in a normal financial environment, the assumptions are increasingly tightened in order to
analyse the Bank’s liquidity situation in times of stress.
In order to protect the liquidity of the Bank even in stress situations, the potential liquidity needs in different scenarios are
determined. The result is analysed and the target volume of Bank’s liquidity reserve is determined by the ALCO. The main
liquidity reserve of the Bank is a committed standby line provided by ProCredit Holding AG&Co. KGaA. During 2020, the
Bank had standby line of EUR 15.0 million to use under emergency conditions to cover possible liquidity gaps (2019:
standby line of EUR 15.0 million).
The Bank also aims to diversify its funding sources. Deposit concentrations are monitored in order to avoid dependency
on a few large depositors. According to the Bank’s internal guidelines, a significant depositor concentration exists if the 5
and 10 largest non-financial customer depositors having more than 1% share in the total non-financial customer deposit
portfolio (whereby all deposits of one customer are considered as one) which can be withdrawn in the next 30 days in the
total non-financial customer deposits. The limit for the share of 5 such largest deposits is 15% of total customer nonfinancial deposits, and the limit for the share of 10 such largest deposits is 20% of total customer non-financial deposits.
The reporting trigger is set at a level of deposit outflow assumptions used in Risk scenario for the deposits of such
customers. This indicator shows a possible liquidity risk arising from concentration in funding. This serves as an early
warning signal pointing at the necessity to discuss measures reducing depositor concentration. Respective decisions are
made by the Bank’s ALCO and brought to attention of Group Risk Management Committee.
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The following table shows the undiscounted future cash flows of the financial liabilities and provisions for legal proceedings
of the Bank according to their remaining contractual maturities at 31 December 2020. The remaining contractual maturity
is defined as the period between the reporting date and the contractually agreed due date of the liability, or the due date
of a partial payment under the contract for liability. The following table accounts for contractually allowed early calls of
some financial liabilities.
Up to
1 month
Liabilities
Due to other banks
Customer accounts
Other borrowed funds
Lease liabilities
Other financial liabilities and
provisions for legal
proceedings

Total

Irrevocable credit related
commitments

3 - 12
months

1-5
years

11,360
530,034
12,915,717 1,260,244 3,644,957
69,211
433,552 1,288,840
1,034
2,918
10,004

642,118
2,757,042
16,872

33,265

1-3
months

1,301

52,012

1,266

13,030,587 1,698,015 5,525,847

3,417,298

More than
5 years

Total

541,394
16,968 18,480,004
387,945 4,936,590
30,828
-

87,844

404,913 24,076,660

327,819

327,819

The following table shows the undiscounted future cash flows of the financial liabilities and provisions for legal proceedings
of the Bank according to their remaining contractual maturities at 31 December 2019. The remaining contractual maturity
is defined as the period between the reporting date and the contractually agreed due date of the liability, or the due date
of a partial payment under the contract for liability. The following table accounts for contractually allowed early calls of
some financial liabilities.

Up to
1 month
Liabilities
Due to other banks
Customer accounts
Other borrowed funds
Lease liabilities
Other financial liabilities and
provisions for legal
proceedings

Total

Irrevocable credit related
commitments

3 - 12
months

1-5
years

5,019
524,028
8,747,803 1,277,587 4,242,478
23,062
336,273 1,599,027
1,104
2,075
9,375

676,396
3,245,199
8,235

25,932

1-3
months

31,225

-

8,802,920 1,616,935 6,406,133

3,929,830

186,034

1,000

More than
5 years

Total

529,047
15,639 14,959,903
392,061 5,595,622
20,789
-

58,157

407,700 21,163,518

186,034

As at 31 December 2020, term deposits of legal entities amounting to UAH 1,459,188 thousand (31 December 2019:
UAH 2,418,252 thousand) include option to withdraw funds before maturity. In disclosure of undiscounted future cash flows
of the financial liabilities above and liquidity disclosure, presented further, these deposits are presented according to
contractual term, without consideration of early withdrawal option". Based on historical experience, withdrawals of deposits
of legal entities significantly earlier of the contract maturity are not expected.
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The following table summarises approach of the Bank to measuring liquidity risk and shows the distribution of liquidityrelevant positions across certain time buckets as at 31 December 2020. The distribution is based on an internal model of
liquidity management of the Bank, which takes into account the main expected cash flows of the principal amounts of
financial instruments (i.e. excluding future and outstanding accrued interest).
Up to
1 month

1-3
months

3-6
months

7 - 12
months

More than
1 year

Total

162,418

-

-

-

-

162,418

Financial assets
Cash on hand
Cash balances with the National Bank
of Ukraine (other than regulatory
reserve requirements)
Correspondent accounts, overnight
placements and guarantee deposits
with other banks
Deposit certificates of the National
Bank of Ukraine
Loans and advances to customers
FX derivatives (asset side)

46,328

-

-

-

-

46,328

3,759,175

-

-

-

36,477

3,795,652

2,030,000

-

-

-

-

2,030,000

246,078 1,046,738
160,487
-

1,037,534 3,554,766
510,673
-

14,070,074
-

19,955,190
671,160

Total

6,404,486 1,046,738

1,548,207 3,554,766

14,106,551

26,660,748

521,094

-

521,094

Financial liabilities
Due to other banks
Customer accounts (other than term
deposit accounts)
Customer accounts (term deposit
accounts)
Other borrowed funds
FX derivatives (liability side)

Total
Expected amount of undrawn loan
commitments, letters of credit and
guarantees issued

-

-

901,041

612,294

734,753 1,469,506

8,596,480

12,314,074

458,543

495,577

380,701

703,296

3,905,885

5,944,001

25,000
173,698

393,862
-

317,770
521,094

678,521
-

2,846,498
-

4,261,652
694,792

1,954,318 3,372,417

15,348,863

23,735,613

-

-

392,233

24,127,846

1,558,282 1,501,733

392,233

-

-

Total

1,950,515 1,501,733

1,954,318 3,372,417

15,348,863

Expected liquidity gap

4,453,971 3,998,976

3,592,865 3,775,214

2,532,902

Sufficient Liquidity Indicator

3.3

In order to adhere to conservative risk approach in regard of liquidity monitoring, the Bank excludes total amount of
mandatory reserves on a daily basis due to the fact that this volume might not be available for an immediate use. This
amount is reported as Expected amount of mandatory reserves.

________________________________________________________________________________________________
53

JSC “ProCredit Bank”
Notes to the Financial Statements – 31 December 2020
(in thousands of Ukrainian Hryvnia, unless otherwise stated)
The following table summarises approach of the Bank to measuring liquidity risk and shows the distribution of liquidityrelevant positions across certain time buckets as at 31 December 2019. The distribution is based on an internal model of
liquidity management of the Bank, which takes into account the main expected cash flows of the principal amounts of
financial instruments (i.e. excluding future and outstanding accrued interest).

Financial assets
Cash on hand
Correspondent accounts, overnight
placements and guarantee deposits
with other banks
Deposit certificates of the National
Bank of Ukraine
Short-term placements with other
banks
Loans and advances to customers
FX derivatives (asset side)
Total

Financial liabilities
Due to other banks
Customer accounts (other than term
deposit accounts)
Customer accounts (term deposit
accounts)
Other borrowed funds
FX derivatives (liability side)

Up to
1 month

1-3
months

3-6
months

7 - 12
months

More than
1 year

152,496

-

-

-

-

152,496

-

-

2,844

1,760,815

1,757,971

Total

3,980,000

-

-

-

-

3,980,000

450,000

-

-

-

-

450,000

223,250
-

867,048
-

945,914 2,159,723 12,105,100 16,301,035
397,899
397,899

6,563,717

867,048

1,343,813 2,159,723 12,107,944 23,042,245

-

-

758,380

515,229

-

515,229

394,607

591,910 1,183,820

5,032,825

7,961,542

619,067

360,038

496,997 1,073,965

3,900,716

6,450,783

-

240,979
-

244,480
396,330

3,234,977
-

4,662,638
396,330

1,377,447

995,624

244,715

-

-

-

-

244,715

300,520

-

-

-

-

300,520

Total

1,922,682

995,624

Expected liquidity gap

4,641,035 4,512,459

Total
Expected amount of undrawn loan
commitments, letters of credit and
guarantees issued
Expected amount of mandatory
reserves

Sufficient Liquidity Indicator

-

942,202
-

1,729,717 3,715,216 12,168,518 19,986,522

1,729,717 3,715,216 12,168,518 20,531,757

4,126,555 2,571,062

2,510,488

3.4

Management expects that in calculating the liquidity risk cash flows on certain financial assets and liabilities would differ from
the contractual cash flows. The cash flow data is adjusted when applying the contractual maturities appears impractical from
the viewpoint of liquidity risk. The adjustments are based on certain assumptions used to change the contractual maturities of
liquid assets, cash receipts and liabilities that become due in a certain period to reflect the stress situation.
Liquid assets, i.e. assets available for immediate use, as well as certain assets with the maturity of up to 30 days, represent
one of the most important liquidity risk management tools. These include:
-

Cash;
Balances with the National Bank of Ukraine other than mandatory reserves, calculated for the respective monthly
reporting period based on statistical reporting forms (weighted at 0% of their carrying value in 2020). Although the
Bank is not obliged to maintain the total level of mandatory reserves on a daily basis, the conservative risk approach
based on assumptions that the Bank cannot consider the excessive liquidity occurred from positive difference
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-

-

-

between the current amount of balances with the National Bank and amount of mandatory reserves. Thus, the Bank
adjust the report by amount of this difference and put as outflow at the day of monthly recalculation of mandatory
reserves.
Nostro accounts at ProCredit Bank Germany (deposits held with PCB Germany by the Bank) are split into operational
and non-operational. Operational deposits - the daily liquidity requirements for clearing at PCB Germany. The
threshold for operational deposits is defined based on the periodical analysis performed by PCB Germany. Deposits
up to the defined thresholds are considered as operational and a 25% in/outflow rate is applied by depositing Bank
and PCB Germany accordingly (or, in other words, the 75% of operational deposits is not considered as part of the
HLAs/ liquidity buffer of the depositing bank and, respectively, is not considered as an outflow for PCB Germany).
Non-operational - deposits in excess of the threshold are treated as non-operational with a 100% in/outflow rate.
Treasury stocks and other marketable securities (except for those pledged as collateral): all liquid securities are
deemed available for 30 days regardless of their maturities. Other treasury stocks deemed liquid securities include
only those with the maturities of up to 30 days;
Possible proceeds within the stand-by credit line opened by ProCredit Holding are not included in the calculation of
the liquid assets;
Loans to customers:

Loans overdue in excess of 30 days and overdue part of current loans are excluded from the liquid assets,
as the Bank cannot count on the proceeds that have already become due;

50% are included, with the remaining 50% expected to be issued as loans.

The core assumptions used for the purposes of calculating the liquidity indicators are as follows:
term liabilities due to external banks are included according to maturity;
the assumption on the outflow from customer accounts is based on the analysis of the historical data on the
Bank’s deposit base. 8% of the total amount of non-financial customers (i.e. all savings and deposit accounts)
are expected to outflow in the first 30 days. For financial institutional customers there is an 50% outflow
assumption for current liabilities;
other borrowed funds represent principal debt according to maturity, for financial institutions there is an 50%
outflow assumption for current accounts presented within other borrowed funds;
5% of exposures guaranteed by the Bank will require a payment within the next month;
10% of credit lines, which the Bank has committed to its customers, but which are currently undrawn, will be
drawn within the next month.
The above assumptions are determined as risk scenario used to reflect the liquidity asset outflow that exceeds normal
expectations. Therefore, the sufficient liquidity ratio calculated as liquid assets and proceeds with the next 30 days to
liabilities with the maturity of up to 30 days (inclusively) is an important indicator to manage short-term liquidity. The Bank’s
goal is always to maintain sufficient liquidity in order to serve all expected liabilities within the next month. From a technical
point of view, this implies that the Bank’s available assets should always exceed the expected liabilities, as calculated by
applying the above assumptions.
The Bank at all times shall maintain positive gaps between assets and liabilities for risk scenario cashflows for all time
buckets up to 90 days, and this indicator is monitored on a daily basis. It ensures that the Bank has sufficient liquid assets
and resources of liquid assets to sustain lingering crisis situations.
Despite considerable uncertainty regarding market liquidity and possible deposit outflows, especially at the beginning of
the global pandemic outbreak, the liquidity situation of the Bank remained stable. In fact, it showed improvement, mainly
due to an increase in customer deposits as well as new signed funding agreements with IFIs. The bank had sufficient
liquidity available at all times in 2020 to meet all financial obligations in a timely manner.
Generally, the Bank assesses its funding sources to be sufficient and diversified, mainly due to the fact that the core of
the Bank’s funds is composed of a large number of customers’ deposits.

47) Operational Risk
Operational risk is defined by the Bank as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people
or systems (e.g. failure of data-processing systems, embezzlement, human error, faulty processes, structural
weaknesses, insufficient monitoring) or from external events (e.g. criminal activities, natural disasters). This definition also
takes into account fraud risk, IT risk, legal risk, reputational risk and outsourcing risk. Operational risk management aims
to identify, analyse and assess all material risks at an early stage and to avoid their recurrence. The Bank follows
Operational Risk Management Policy. The principles outlined in this document are designed to manage the Bank’s
operational risk exposure. In accordance with not only with the regulations of the National Bank of Ukraine but also with
more detailed requirements of the EU laws (Kreditwesengesetz, the German Banking Act, and MaRisk, Minimum
Requirements for Risk Management).
The overall framework for managing operational risks comprises the following key components: Corporate Culture,
Governance Framework, Policies and Procedures, Risk Assessments, New Risk Approvals (NRAs), Key Risk Indicators
and the Risk Event Database.
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The overall objectives of this approach to the management of operational risks are:
-

understanding of key factors of operational risks of the Bank
to be able to identify critical issues as early as possible
to avoid losses caused by operational risks; and
to ensure efficient use of the Bank’s capital.

The Bank has defined detailed guidelines and standards to ensure the confidentiality, availability and integrity of all
information and information-processing IT systems requiring protection. Regular controls of information security and
business continuity are part of existing processes and procedures. The Bank carries out a classification of their information
assets and conducts a risk assessment on their critical information assets each year. The business continuity framework
implemented in the bank ensures that these risks are understood by all members of staff, that critical processes are
identified and that resources are allocated to restore operations, in line with the prioritisation of processes.
Against the background of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Bank focused on staff organisation and operational risk. The
objective of these activities is to ensure the continuity of business operations and adequate staffing. The Bank’s digital
approach to all routine banking operations has enabled it to quickly implement home-office models to protect the health
and safety of customers and employees. The Bank was able to maintain business continuity and guarantee the availability
of IT systems without any loss of performance. Furthermore, the Bank did not identify any increase in fraud or other
operational risks.
Organisation of the risk management function
Responsibility for risk management at the Bank lies with the Supervisory Board.
The risk management function comprises various organisational units, including the credit risk department and the risk
management unit. Risk management unit is responsible for capital management, for market risks control and for
operational risk control. These organisational units report to the Bank’s Management Board. Key issues are discussed by
the Bank’s Credit Portfolio Risk Committee, ALCO, General Risk Management Committee . Committees are specialised
with the aim to consider individual risks carefully such as market risks (ALCO), credit risks (Credit Portfolio Risk
Committee) and operational risks including information security (General Risk Management Committee).
At the Bank, risk management is implemented and developed, in operational terms, by a risk management unit, which is
an autonomous unit within the Bank’s organisation and which is not involved in any way with the Bank’s customer service
operations (credit or deposit business) or trading operations. The risk departments report regularly to the corresponding
risk departments at ProCredit Holding AG&Co. KGaA.
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F. Additional Notes
48) Fair Value of Financial Instruments
For the hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation technique refer to
Note 7. The table below shows an analysis of the carrying value of financial instruments by level of the fair value hierarchy
into which the fair value measurement is categorised as at 31 December 2020:
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Assets at fair value
Loans at FVTPL
Investment securities

-

-

105,065
823

105,065
823

Total assets at fair value

-

-

105,888

105,888

Assets for which fair values are disclosed
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and advances to customers
Other financial assets (less derivative financial instruments)

-

6,999,775
46,280

19,393,651
-

6,999,775
19,393,651
46,280

-

7,046,055

19,393,651

26,439,706

Liabilities at fair value
Derivatives

-

19,246

-

19,246

Total liabilities at fair value

-

19,246

-

19,246

-

535,718
12,215,675
5,964,795
122,812
-

4,333,904

535,718
12,215,675
5,964,795
122,812
4,333,904

-

95,423

-

95,423

-

18,934,423

4,333,904

23,268,327

Total financial assets for which fair values are
disclosed

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed
Due to other banks
Customer accounts (on demand)
Customer accounts (term deposits)
Other liabilities to customers
Other borrowed funds
Other financial liabilities and provisions for legal
proceedings (less derivatives)

Total liabilities for which fair values are disclosed
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Fair value of loans at FVTPL is determined using discounted cash flow technique. An increase in expected net cash flows
would result in a higher fair value. Significant impact on changes in unobservable inputs for loans at FVTPL is not expected.
The table below shows an analysis of the carrying value of financial instruments by level of the fair value hierarchy into
which the fair value measurement is categorised as at 31 December 2019:
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Assets at fair value
Loans at FVTPL
Investment securities
Derivatives

-

779

120,622
686
-

120,622
686
779

Total assets at fair value

-

779

121,308

122,087

Assets for which fair values are disclosed
Cash and cash equivalents
Due from other banks
Loans and advances to customers
Other financial assets (less derivative financial instruments)

-

6,792,359
451,216
13,776

16,002,260
-

6,792,359
451,216
16,002,260
13,776

-

7,257,351

16,002,260

23,259,611

Liabilities at fair value
Derivatives

-

4,824

-

4,824

Total liabilities at fair value

-

4,824

-

4,824

-

522,245
7,939,075
6,523,552
79,602
-

4,741,927

522,245
7,939,075
6,523,552
79,602
4,741,927

-

72,553

-

72,553

-

15,137,027

4,741,927

19,878,954

Total financial assets for which fair values are
disclosed

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed
Due to other banks
Customer accounts (on demand)
Customer accounts (term deposits)
Other liabilities to customers
Other borrowed funds
Other financial liabilities and provisions for legal
proceedings (less derivatives)

Total liabilities for which fair values are disclosed
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Movements in loans and advances to customers measured at FVTPL and allocated to Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy
during 2020 and 2019 were as follows:
2020
2019
Balance as at 1 January
New loans disbursed
Repaid during the period
Interest accrued
Interest paid
Change in fair value

120,622
91,602
(105,718)
16,014
(16,360)
(1,095)

68,893
162,168
(110,053)
11,324
(11,776)
66

105,065

120,622

Balance as at 31 December

Set out below is a comparison, by class, of the carrying amounts and fair values of the Bank’s financial instruments that
are not carried at fair value in the financial statements. This table does not include the fair values of non-financial assets
and non-financial liabilities.
2020
2019
Carrying value
Fair value Carrying value
Fair value
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Due from other banks
Loans and advances to customers
Other financial assets

6,999,775
19,393,651
46,280

6,999,775
19,384,897
46,280

6,792,359
451,216
16,002,260
13,776

6,792,359
451,216
15,978,914
13,776

Total financial assets

26,439,706

26,430,952

23,259,611

23,236,265

522,245
14,630,813
533,388
2,769,218
1,821,101
2,815,368
4,161,046
2,451,090
79,602
4,783,242

Financial liabilities
Due to other banks
Customer accounts
Current accounts of individuals
Current accounts of legal entities
Savings accounts of individuals
Savings accounts of legal entities
Term deposits of individuals
Term deposits of legal entities
Other liabilities to customers
Other borrowed funds
Other financial liabilities and provisions for legal
proceedings

535,718

535,718

18,303,282
928,296
4,398,231
2,970,981
3,918,167
4,505,607
1,459,188
122,812
4,333,904

18,367,704
928,296
4,398,231
2,970,981
3,918,167
4,554,269
1,474,948
122,812
4,488,405

522,245
14,542,229
533,388
2,769,218
1,821,101
2,815,368
4,105,300
2,418,252
79,602
4,741,927

95,423

95,423

72,553

72,553

Total financial liabilities

23,268,327

23,487,250

19,878,954

20,008,853
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Discount rates used in the estimation of fair values depend on currency, maturity of the instrument, credit risk of the
counterparty and were as follows:
2020

2019

5.0% – 11.0% p.a.
N/A

4.0% – 16.0% p.a.
N/A

Due to other banks

N/A

N/A

Current accounts of private individuals

N/A

N/A

Current accounts of legal entities

N/A

N/A

Savings accounts of private individuals

N/A

N/A

Savings accounts of legal entities

N/A

N/A

Term deposits of private individuals

0.39% - 8.43% p.a.

0.64% - 15.07% p.a.

Term deposits of legal entities

0.39% - 8.43% p.a.

0.64% - 14.72% p.a.

Loans and advances to customers
Other financial assets
Customer accounts

Other liabilities to customers
Other borrowed funds
Other financial liabilities and provisions for legal
proceedings

N/A

N/A

0.58% - 8.7%

1.26%- 15.07%

N/A

N/A

49) Contingencies and Commitments
Legal proceedings
In the ordinary course of business, the Bank is subject to legal actions and complaints. Management believes that the
ultimate liability, if any, arising from such actions or complaints will not have a material adverse effect on the financial
condition or the results of future operations.
Tax legislation
Ukrainian legislation and regulations regarding taxation and other operational matters, including currency exchange control
and custom regulations, continue to evolve. Legislation and regulations are not always clearly written and are subject to
varying interpretations by local, regional and national authorities, and other governmental bodies. Instances of inconsistent
interpretations are not unusual. Management believes that its interpretation of the relevant legislation is appropriate and
that the Bank has complied with all regulations, and paid or accrued all taxes and withholdings that are applicable.
The uncertainty of inconsistent enforcement and application of Ukrainian tax laws creates a risk of substantial additional
tax liabilities, inability to recover recognised deferred tax assets and penalties being claimed by the tax authorities. Such
claims, if substantiated, could have a material effect on the Bank’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows.
In 2019 the Bank included tax deduction on the difference between IFRS provisions and the limit of provisions which are
deductible for tax purposes of UAH 203,166 thousand to the tax declaration. There were certain changes in the Tax code
in December 2017 which removes limitations in respect of provisions and allowed banks to deduct the opening difference
in the next couple of years. However, the new rules are also very ambiguous and therefore there might be different
interpretation in practice of the new rule. Management of the Bank considers that there is a risk of charging a corporate
profit tax of UAH 53,676 thousand related to the aforementioned as at 31 December 2020.
Transfer pricing
Currently effective legislation introduces special transfer pricing reporting that must be filed with the tax authorities by 1
October each year. Additionally, the tax authorities are entitled to request transfer pricing documentation about controlled
transactions. The taxpayers must provide such documentation within one month of receiving this request.
Based on these legislative requirements, the transactions between the Bank and related parties are subject to transfer
pricing compliance and reporting. The Bank should thus file transfer pricing reporting with the tax authorities and be ready
to provide relevant transfer pricing documentation at their request.
Considering the recent implementation of these rules, there is no practice of their application by the tax authorities, there
can be no assurance that the tax authorities will not have a different interpretation of the Bank’s approach and assess fines
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and penalties. In addition, the main difficulties in determining the controlled transactions and reporting is the lack of
legislative criteria for determining normal prices for services and interest on loans received from related parties may lead
to ambiguous definition of the value of these parameters and expose the Bank to fines.
Credit-related commitments
The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer as required. Guarantees and
standby letters of credit, which represent irrevocable assurances that the Bank will make payments in the event that a
customer cannot meet its obligations to third parties, carry the same credit risk as loans. Documentary and commercial
letters of credit, which are written undertakings by the Bank on behalf of a customer authorising a third party to draw drafts
on the Bank up to a stipulated amount under specific terms and conditions, are collateralised by the underlying shipments
of goods to which they relate or cash deposits and therefore carry less risk than a direct borrowing.
Outstanding credit-related commitments are as follows (all classified to Stage 1):
2020

2019

Payment guarantees
Import letters of credit
Performance guarantees

325,415
650

183,030
407

1,754

2,597

Total credit-related commitments

327,819

186,034

The total outstanding contractual amount of guarantees does not necessarily represent future cash requirements, as these
financial instruments may expire or terminate without being funded. For the amount of provisions for credit related
commitments credit risk refer to Note 40.
As at 31 December 2020, all commitments to extend credit are revocable and amounted to UAH 3,758,420 thousand (31
December 2019: all revocable and amounted to UAH 2,354,134 thousand).
Credit related commitments are denominated in currencies as follows:

UAH
EUR
USD
Other currencies
Total

2020

2019

138,211
189,412

33,953
151,556

-

118

196

407

327,819

186,034

Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorisations to extend credit in the form of loans, guarantees
or letters of credit. With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the Bank is potentially exposed to the loss
of an amount equal to the total unused commitments. However, the likely amount of loss is less than the total unused
commitments since most commitments to extend credit are contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit
standards. The Bank monitors the term to maturity of credit-related commitments because longer-term commitments
generally have a greater degree of credit risk than shorter-term commitments.
Assets pledged and restricted
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019 the Bank did not have pledged any assets as a security under borrowed funds.

50) Related Party Transactions
Parties are generally considered to be related if the parties are under common control or one party has the ability to control
the other party or can exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. In
considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship, not merely
the legal form.
Terms of transactions with related parties are established at the time of the transaction.
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As at 31 December 2020, the outstanding balances with related parties were as follows:
Entities under
Parent
company common control

Outstanding balance on corresponding account
Gross amount of loans and advances to customers (contractual
interest rate: 21.0%)
Other assets
Due to other banks (contractual interest rate: 1.65-2.35%,
currency: EUR)
Customer accounts (contractual interest rate: 0 - 14%)
Other borrowed funds (contractual interest rate: EUR: 2.42 3.01%; USD: 4.53%; UAH - 19.41%)
Other financial liabilities and provisions for legal proceedings

Key
management
personnel

-

3,830,333

-

-

41,526

278
-

-

535,718
3,435

5,086

1,007,629

21,570

-

The income and expense items with related parties for the year 2020 were as follows:
Entities under
common control

Parent
company
Interest income, calculated using the effective interest method
Interest expense
Fee and commission income
Fee and commission expense
Income from FVTPL financial assets

-

2,240

(95,377)
1,319
-

(10,834)
(31,055)

Key
management
personnel
10
(146)
-

-

9,005

-

Administrative and other operating expenses

(30,478)

(90,425)

(12,217)

- including management services

(30,382)

-

-

-

-

(12,217)

- including remuneration of key management personnel
(including social tax contributions)

As at 31 December 2019, the outstanding balances with related parties were as follows:

Outstanding balance on corresponding account
Gross amount of loans and advances to customers (contractual
interest rate: 21.0%)
Other assets
Due to other banks (contractual interest rate: 1.65-2.35%,
currency: EUR)
Customer accounts (contractual interest rate: 0 - 14%)
Other borrowed funds (contractual interest rate: EUR: 2.42 3.01%; USD: 4.53%; UAH - 19.41%)
Other financial liabilities and provisions for legal proceedings

Parent
company

Entities under
common
control

-

2,186,042

-

-

3,421

91
-

-

522,245
2,249

2,921

1,069,806
-

6,034

-

Key
management
personnel
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The income and expense items with related parties for the year 2019 were as follows:
Parent
company

Entities under
common
control

(91,348)
-

27,626
(5,387)
(26,438)

20
(845)
-

(25,127)
(25,037)

781
(70,163)
-

(11,609)
-

-

-

(11,609)

Interest income, calculated using the effective interest method
Interest expense
Fee and commission expense
Income from FVTPL financial assets
Administrative and other operating expenses
- including management services
- including remuneration of key management personnel (including
social tax contributions)

Key
management
personnel

The vacation accrual related to key management personnel as at 31 December 2020 was UAH 1,267 thousand (2019:
UAH 1,047 thousand).
For description of equity transactions refer to Note 42. As at 31 December 2020 the Bank has a standby line provided by
the ProCredit Holding AG&Co. KGaA of EUR 15.0 million to use under emergency conditions to cover possible liquidity
gaps (2019: standby line of EUR 15.0 million).
51) Presentation of Financial Instruments by Measurement Category
For the purposes of measurement, IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, the Bank classifies financial instruments into the
following categories: (a) Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, (b) Financial assets and
financial liabilities at amortised cost, (c) Financial assets at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in Other
Comprehensive Income.
As at 31 December 2020 financial assets are presented as follows by measurement categories:

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and advances to customers
Investment securities
Other financial assets
Total financial assets

At amortised
cost

FVOCI

FVTPL

6,999,775
19,392,453
0
46,280
26,438,508

823
823

105,065
105,065

Net
investments
in finance
leases

Total

- 6,999,775
1,198 19,498,716
823
46,280
1,198 26,545,594

As at 31 December 2019 financial assets are presented as follows by measurement categories:

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Due from other banks
Loans and advances to customers
Investment securities
Other financial assets
Total financial assets

At amortised
cost

FVOCI

FVTPL

6,792,359
451,216
15,994,761
13,776
23,252,112

686
686

120,622
779
121,401

Net
investments
in finance
leases

Total

- 6,792,359
451,216
7,499 16,122,882
686
14,555
7,499 23,381,698
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